IATEFL POLAND COMPUTER SPECIAL INTEREST GROUP

TEACHING ENGLISH WITH TECHNOLOGY

A JOURNAL FOR TEACHERS OF ENGLISH

ISSN 1642-1027

Vol. 2, no. 5, October 2002

Contents:

Editor's Message

Articles:

"Promoting Learner Autonomy through CALL Projects in China's EFL Context" by Fang Ying

"The Internet in ESL College Education: A Proposal for the Internet-Enhanced College Course" by Malgorzata Kurek

Internet Lesson Plans:

"Christmas Unknown" by Miroslawa Podgorska

"Going on Holiday" by Jarek Krajka

A Word from a Techie:

"Create an English Letter Writing Secretary" by Guo Shesen

Software:

"Virtual Reality Modeling Language" by Hee-Jung Jung

Announcements of Future Events:

"<u>Teaching Online in Higher Education: Expanding the</u> Frontiers"

"ETHICOMP 2002: The Transformation of Organisations in the Information Age: Social and Ethical Implications"

"EDMEDIA 2003: World Conference on Educational Multimedia, Hypermedia & Telecommunications"

"CALICO 2003 Annual Symposium: Collaborative CALL"

Subscription Information and Call for Submissions

EDITOR'S MESSAGE

by Jarek Krajka

Maria Curie-Sklodowska University,

Lublin, Poland

jkrajka@batory.plo.lublin.pl

It is my utmost pleasure as the Editor-in-Chief of *Teaching English with Technology*, a free electronic journal for teachers interested in the use of computers and the Internet in the classroom, to present you with the next issue of this periodical, concluding the second year of the existence of the Journal. In this month's editorial, I would like to devote some space to the place of Computer-Assisted Language Learning in the process of training English teachers.

Nowadays, the expectations towards knowing the potential of Information and Communication Technology and effective using it in teaching are quite high in Poland – teachers are sometimes obliged by headteachers to make use of the Internet lab, students exercise pressure on their teachers to use the Internet in learning English, while parents are extremely glad to see new methods and teaching aids such as computers and the Web facilitating and enhancing language learning. More and more schools have Internet labs available for English lessons, making it possible to execute Web-based lessons.

In order to make this happen, it seems that in the process of English teacher training there should be stronger emphasis on ICT. It seems that some solution would be to have ICT classes in the curriculum of studies leading either to B.A. (*licencjat*) or M.A. (*magister*) degree, so that students' computer knowledge from school would be consolidated and directed towards research for B.A. or M.A. theses.

The elements of Computer-Assisted Language Learning are included in the curriculum of the ELT methodology classes, with some time devoted to the role of the computer in teaching, its opportunities and limitations. Also, the Ministry of National Education and Sport in Poland giving guidelines on teacher education emphasises the issue of audiovisual teaching aids such as ELT software or general software to teach and learn English. However, due to the large amount of material to cover in ELT methodology classes, it is rarely possible to devote more than two/three classes to the elements of computer- or Internet-assisted teaching. In order to amend that situation, it seems that some extra classes devoted to the methodology of using ICT in ELT should be introduced in the curriculum of English teacher training.

The problem of university teacher training in Poland might be the availability of computer labs, where, paradoxically, schools are better equipped in technology with the Internet labs and fast connections than universities and teacher training colleges. Here the solution could be closer cooperation of universities and schools in different areas, with the schools allowing the use of computer labs.

The two articles published in this issue of the Journal seem to prove the need for implementing the above measures, demonstrating the successful introduction of the Web as a medium for doing research and making projects. Interesting enough, the papers describe the situation and findings from two countries fairly distant from each other (China and Poland), but come to similar conclusions of the great opportunities given by the Internet and the need to implement computer-based projects.

In the first article entitled "Promoting Learner Autonomy through CALL Projects in China's EFL Context", Fang Ying, from Suzhou University, Suzhou, China, illustrates the importance of developing learner autonomy by showing how the CALL research project can promote autonomous learning. The second viewpoint is that of Malgorzata Kurek, from Wyzsza Szkola Lingwistyczna, Czestochowa, Poland, whose article "The Internet in ESL College Education: A Proposal for the Internet-enhanced College Course" describes the outline of a college course incorporating technology into a linguistically-oriented syllabus.

Internet Lesson Plans section starts with the plan "Christmas Unknown" by Miroslawa Podgorska, from III LO, Zamosc, Poland, bringing the atmosphere of Christmas and showing how to use different festivals as the basis for a lesson. The second contribution in this section, "Going on Holiday", by the humble undersigned Jarek Krajka from Maria Curie-Sklodowska University, Lublin, Poland, is a larger four-lesson module exploiting the idea of a virtual holiday trip and combining computer skills instruction (word-processing and emailing) with language work (travel vocabulary, writing a personal letter).

In A Word from a Techie section, Guo Shesen from Luoyang University, Henan, China, shows how to facilitate letter writing with the help of a digital secretary. "Virtual Reality Modeling Language" by Hee-Jung Jung, from Washington State University, USA, is the contribution in Software section which familiarizes the Journal readers with VRML, by describing its functioning, current applications, gains and loses for language learners.

In this moment, I would like to take that opportunity and announce the fact that the Editorial Board of *Teaching English with Technology* has been joined by Guo Shesen, from Luoyang University, Henan, China, who has kindly agreed to be the Editor responsible for A Word from a Techie section. Looking at Guo's contributions in the section in the former issues of the Journal, there is no doubt that the readers will greatly benefit from Guo's expertise and creativity in the field.

I wish you all good reading.

ARTICLES

PROMOTING LEARNER AUTONOMY THROUG H CALL PROJECTS IN CHINA'S EFL CONTEXT

by Fang Ying

Suzhou University,

Suzhou, China

szfine@suda.edu.cn

Abstract

"Learner-centered approach" and "self-directed learning" have been a recent research focus in SLA, but few studies have touched upon how to develop learner autonomy, particularly in a computer-assisted learning environment. The paper first illustrates the importance of promoting learner autonomy in China's EFL context and elaborates the three main factors contributing to its development. Then it focuses on how the CALL research project promotes autonomous learning through a small-scale study in Suzhou University. Both quantitative and qualitative methods have been employed to examine whether in the CALL project learners exercise control over their own learning and evaluate its outcome. The final results indicate that due to a flexible syllabus, highly motivating research topics and the network-assisted environment, learners do take responsibility for most aspects of learning and thus the CALL project proves to be a promising approach for autonomous training.

Introduction

Along with the development of global communication and the coming of the information age, the English language has started to play an increasingly important role in our social and economic life. More and more Chinese college students are aware of the significance of learning the international language and are trying to master it as a tool and as an opportunity for their future development.

However, teacher-centered approaches and spoon-fed methods have been prevalent for a long time in China's EFL context. Teachers have been regarded as authority, knowledge-givers and error correctors, while students have tended to limit their work to what was taught in class. Classes have usually been driven by "teacher-talk" and depended heavily on textbooks. Instruction in the classrooms has been based on the misconception that there is a fixed world of knowledge that students must know. There has been little or no room for student-initiated questions, independent thought or interaction between students. As a result, many learners have been accustomed to depending on teachers' feeding. Without teachers' timely and adequate help, students have felt disoriented, lost confidence and failed to pinpoint their goals in learning. The situation has become even worse with the expansion of school enrolment, increasingly large class sizes and inadequate teaching staff, who have found it harder to take every student's needs into consideration.

Many people attributed students' passiveness to EFL teachers' failure to adopt effective teaching approach. It is true that teachers' reform efforts do contribute to students' successful learning. Recent years have witnessed many teachers' reform measures both in methods and in testing. However, their efforts seem not to have achieved the desirable results. Lack of motivation and weak communication competence on the part of students are still evident in EFL teaching. In this case, we cannot help doubting our traditional perception on language learning, which placed teachers at the center of the learning process.

Moreover, global changes in the availability of information indicate that there is no longer a fixed body of knowledge that can be transmitted to learners. It is no longer possible to teach all students all they need to know. Learning is a lifelong endeavor (Pemberton, 1996). Only when learners are able to avail themselves of each learning opportunity rather than simply react to various stimuli from the teacher can they be skilful manipulators of language in their language learning process. The situation calls for the urgent need of cultivating learners' initiatives and learner autonomy.

Furthermore, recent research in psychology, sociology and linguistics, has shed light on language teaching, learning and the role of learners in the language learning process. The process syllabus (Breen, 1987), the learner-centered approach (Nunan, 1988), Piaget's cognitive psychology and Volgosky's social cognition all emphasize a learner's central place in the classroom. According to Piaget's interactionism (Piaget, 1977), learning takes place when learners actively construct their own understanding and knowledge through their interaction with the world around them. Influenced by the concept, teachers have begun to attach more importance to learners' cognition, personality and motivation. It is learners who are supposed to play an active role in the learning process and take more responsibility for their own learning. Learner autonomy used to be considered as a concept only suitable in Western countries, but is now regarded as an unquestionable goal and a prerequisite for lifelong learning also in China.

Theoretical Background

Related literature indicates that the concept of learner autonomy is closely linked with learners' actions and their perceptions toward learning. On one hand, it relates to learners' actions, ability or capacity to take charge of learning individually and cooperatively (Holec, 1981; Little, 1991; Dam, 1990; Stern, 1992; Pemberton, 1996). As Little (1991: 4) defined it, "autonomy is a capacity for detachment, critical reflection, decision-making and independent action". On the other hand, learner autonomy refers to learners' perceptions, beliefs and attitudes toward learning. Just as Carver and Dickinson (1987) claim, being responsible for one's learning is an attitude of mind.

According to Icy Lee (1998: 282), "learner autonomy involves taking responsibility for the objectives of learning, self-monitoring, self-assessing and taking an active role in learning". She also puts forward three factors crucial to the development of learner autonomy: learner choice, supporting environment and self-assessment. Learner choice implies that learners can work at their own pace, decide on questions of what, when, how and how often. Giving students choices in learning is congruent with the theory of constructivism which emphasizes that a learner builds up new knowledge based on the old and is an active agent in his own learning process (Thanasoulas, 2000). Supporting environment is also in accordance with the principle of social constructivism, i.e., "language learning is essentially a social process that occurs within a social context through interactions with others" (Donato & McCormick, 1994;

Wertsch, 1988). One important criterion for establishing a supportive environment is flexibility in learning (Pemberton, 1996), which means that learners can change options (objectives, contents, process of learning) based on their needs and interests. Besides, the teacher's and peer's support are essential in the successful establishment of supporting environment. Self-assessment has been defined as checking one's own performance on a learning task after it has been completed (Richards & Platt, 1992) and is identified to be an important characteristic of autonomous learning.

With the advent of the Internet, networks in classrooms or labs have played an increasingly important role in language education and provide new opportunity for autonomous learning. CALL project is a case in point. As Deborah Healey (1999) pointed out, in a CALL project students have lots of chances to control the content, the structure of the learning, including the time, the pace, the path to the goal and the measurement of success. The development of learner autonomy does not mean that learners work in isolation or have complete autonomy in the classroom. On the contrary, as learners in China's context are too passive to control everything and they require "varying degrees of control" (Egbert & Hanson-Smith, 1999: 392), consultation with and feedback from the instructor are necessary. Thus, learner autonomy also involves the development of interdependence, through which a group of learners and teacher will collaboratively take responsibility for and control of their learning environment (Blin, 1999). To put it more specifically, the development of autonomous learning is a process of moving from dependency through counter-dependence to independence and interdependence (Boud, 1988). Besides, CALL project involves selfassessment, peer-editing and group evaluation, which raise learners' self-consciousness in learning and enable them to continue the self-monitoring after the course is finished. Self assessment has been identified as an important characteristic of a learner-centered classroom (Griffee, 1998). In summary, the successful experience of international colleagues proves that CALL projects facilitate learner autonomy. Recently some Chinese teachers have begun incorporating project-based Internet learning into language teaching with satisfactory results (Warschauer, 2001, cited in Liu, 2001), but few studies have been made on the development of learner autonomy in China's network-assisted learning environment. In order to explore the possibility and applicability of CALL projects on the promotion of Chinese students' autonomous learning ability, a small-scale study was conducted on the basis of a majorrelated CALL research project in the spring semester of 2001. The study tries to answer the following three research questions:

RQ1: How are students able to set their goals, decide the path to the goal and the pace of learning?

RQ2: In what way do their peers and teachers provide support and help?

RQ3: How do students take responsibility for self-evaluation and mutual assessment?

A Pilot Study on the CALL Research Project

Subjects

Thirty-two junior students majoring in Foreign Trade English at the School of Foreign Languages of Suzhou University participated in the project (March 1st to July 1st) with the teacher of their Intensive Reading Course as their facilitator and one postgraduate as a tutor. They volunteered to take part in this research project as it had a lot to do with their major and the course they learned. Their performance would be reflected by 15% of their final course

grade. A background survey shows that all of them had an average of eight years of English learning and 90% of them passed Test for English Majors, Band 4 (TEM 4, intermediate level) with nine students scoring over 70%. Forty percent of them rated their knowledge of computers before participation as 'poor' and 35% as 'fair'. None of them had ever participated in any CALL projects before, so they had little experience in collaborative writing and online language learning.

Procedures

The CALL Research project is a major-related collaborative activity aiming at integrating students' language, research and technology skills. It lasted from March 1st to the end of the semester with the teacher of their Intensive Reading Course acting as a guide and the author of the present paper as a tutor. What students mainly did in the project was choose research topics of their interest, search the Internet for information, design questionnaires in English, make the social investigation and put their research reports on the Web. Their collaborative work was mostly done in the multimedia language lab of the School of Foreign Languages of Suzhou University. The lab contains 30 Pentium 100 MHz PCs, linked together by the communication software Microsoft Outlook. The lab is connected to the University's campus net and the Internet through the CERNET (China Education and Research Net), which makes it easier for students to search for information both in the school library and on the Internet. The lab is open during regular office hours in the daytime and on five evenings a week. Each student applies for a personal email account either from the university's network center or gets one from free Web-based email services.

The project consisted of five stages with one main task in each stage. In the first stage of the project (from March 1st to March 31st), the students were divided into seven groups of four or five according to their preferences. Each group decided on topics of interest or specific to their major and narrowed them down through group discussion and related literature surfing. Afterwards, an action list was drawn within each group and tasks were distributed to each group member under the group leader's supervision.

In the second stage of the project (from April 1st to May 1st), each group laid down the framework of the research report and the research questions, on the basis of which surveys were designed with group members' joint efforts. Then, they began to make social investigations, distributing the questionnaires to the consumers involved and interviewing related persons.

In the third and fourth stage of the project (from May1st to June 30th), each group finished the data collection, analyzed data gathered and sorted out supporting details with visual graphics of relevant data. In the last stage, each group started to finish their research report and conducted self-evaluation and group assessment respectively. After the revision and modification, they all got ready to present their final products either in a PowerPoint presentation form or through hyperlinked webpages. All the writing activities such as questionnaire making, data finalizing and research report writing as well as communication between the facilitator and students or interaction among students themselves like group evaluation were conducted in the computer lab. They were also required to keep a weekly progress report and share it with other groups for suggestions. A devoted technician in the lab was always ready to help in the whole process. At the end of June, students entered for their final Webpage Fair, which covered a wide range of research areas, including "the Study of the Successful Promotion of KFC in Suzhou", "Comparison of Human Resource Management

between State-Owned Enterprises and Foreign-Funded Companies", "Success of Acer CM", "Challenge faced by Middle Managers", "the Study of the Success of Schindler", "Is Online Selling Gloomy or Promising" and "Human Resource Management and Work Efficiency". All of them can be accessed at http://call.suda.edu.cn/updates/stuprojects.html.

Data collection

Being one of the facilitators, the author of the present paper tutored and observed the whole process of the project. In order to find out whether the three factors crucial to learner autonomy take place in the CALL research process and what effects the major-related project has on learner autonomy, quantitative data were collected from the results of a survey by the end of the project. A statistical analysis was conducted to measure the degree to which CALL project promotes learner autonomy. Besides, a record of students' writing quantity was also collected.

Moreover, in order to gain further insights into the topic under investigation, qualitative data such as the writer's observation notes, students' responses to an end-of-project interview, students' weekly reports and reflections on the project were also collected.

Survey

One end-project survey was distributed to the subjects by the end of the project. It consisted of two parts. The first part concerns personal data including name, sex, class, scores of TEM 4 (Test for English Majors, Band 4) and results in provincial and national computer tests. The other constitutes 20 items to be answered on a five-point Likert scale, with 5 being the highest score. This part falls into 3 sections. Section I (Q2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 19, 20) contains statements concerning learner choice in the entire project. Section II (Q3, 8, 9, 11, 12, 13, 14, 18) aims at examining whether learners get enough support and guidance in the whole process. Section III (Q1, 15, 16, 17) focuses on learners' beliefs and actions toward self-assessment and group evaluation.

Students' works and webpages

Students were required to save their works on a disk, including their outlines, surveys, reflections and the email correspondence with both the facilitator and classmates. The source of data enables the writer to keep track of their progress in language and computer skills. It also reflects the subjects' attitudes toward incorporating modern technology into language learning.

Students' weekly progress report

Students met their teacher of the Intensive Reading Course, who was their guide in the project twice a week. At the beginning of each meeting, the representatives of the seven groups took turns to give a short report of what they had done and what difficulties they had encountered. The other groups would raise questions or offer suggestions. Each week's progress report and the discussion helped the author of the present paper to take a closer look at students' autonomous learning process.

Interview

An interview was also conducted on the subjects at the end of the project. Six open-ended questions were generally related to students' perceptions on the relationship between learner autonomy and the technology-based project. (See the interview questions in Appendix III)

Data Analysis and General Findings

For the end-project survey, 30 students' responses to the second part were calculated to get an overall mean. The mean score of each question for each student was calculated and compared with a hypothesized mean of 3. The Standard deviations (SD) were also calculated to see the variability of the mean distributions. For the sake of convenience, the writer divided the questions into 3 tables according to the 3 sections mentioned above (see <u>Appendix I</u>)

Generally speaking, the study confirmed the hypothesis put forward in the Introduction. The overall mean score for all students on all questions in Part Two of the CALL Survey was 3.89, significantly higher than a hypothetical neutral score of 3. All the mean scores of the 20 questions except Q13 were higher than neutral. The whole results indicate that there is a positive change of learner autonomy in the research project.

Moreover, the mean score for each subcategory of the 3 factors is also calculated to understand how the CALL research project enables students to take responsibility for their learning, how they work in a supportive atmosphere and in what way self-assessment and peer editing were carried out. As the following table shows, the highest two mean scores are given to students' perception on autonomous learning and their view on the change of teacher's role. Besides, the percentage of choosing "strongly agree" and "agree" to each item is also taken into account:

Factors	Sub-categories		%
	General perceptions on autonomous learning	4.43	100%
	Decide to modify the way of doing the project		93.3%
Learner choice	Decide to choose the materials	4.03	86.7%
	Decide on the topics	4.03	86.7%
	Decide on the way of doing the project	3.93	80%
	Views on the change of the teacher's role	4.2	93.3%
	Peers' discussion	4.03	86.7%
Supporting environment	Teacher support	3.97	86.7%
	Peer support	3.97	83.3%
	General perception on the supporting atmosphere	3.93	83.3%
Self-assessment	Group assessment	4.1	93.3%
	Opinions on the evaluation sheets	3.87	73.3%

In addition, when looking at students' responses to Q19 (the fourth highest mean score), Q20 (the fifth highest mean score) and the interview (Appendix III), we get the impression that the CALL research project enhances students' language proficiency and their overall abilities.

Discussion

On the basis of both the quantitative and qualitative analyses, it is claimed that the CALL research project provides a new opportunity for the development of autonomous learning. The effects of the project on the 3 elements of learner autonomy are discussed as follows:

1. Learners enjoy a large range of choices and take responsibility for most aspects of learning.

The highest mean score to Q10 (4.43) demonstrates that students realized the importance of taking responsibility for their own learning and looked upon it as a good habit. Moreover, the interviews and the students' individual reports show that learners did not wish to be spoonfed with the textbooks, which were considered to be the authoritative source. Instead, they were more interested in the CALL project, because the research topics were closely related to their major and the course they learned. Just as one student commented, "The project enlarged our knowledge related to our major and pushes us to read more, find more..." (Tao, group 1). To justify that, an example of group 5 who explored the success of KFC in Su Zhou market can be taken: they searched the Internet for information, designed an English questionnaire and emailed or interviewed English speakers to discuss the topic and finally put the hypertextual research report on the Web. Thus, they developed an internalized thirst for knowledge as well as experience and in the meanwhile improved their language proficiency (Liu, 2001).

All of the questions (Q10, Mean=4.43; Q7, Mean=4.1; Q6, Mean=4.03; Q4, Mean=4.03; Q5, Mean=3.93; Q2, Mean=3.9) concerning learner choice in the questionnaire were higher than average. Answers to the Q6 showed that the majority (86.7%) of the students were able to decide how to use the computer lab, the libraries and the reference room to find the materials they wanted rather than being confined to textbooks only. They could access the extensive information essential to their research either through the search engines on the Internet or via the library's online catalog in the computer lab. Undoubtedly, the Internet provided a source of authentic, timely, relevant text in the target language. In the meanwhile, students learned to exercise their critical judgments for the source, validity, reliability and accuracy of the information so as to extract the precise data they needed. Just as one student (Jiang, group 7) remarked: "the Internet is the largest data storehouse in the world, containing so much information available to us. In order not to be drowned in the information sea, I had to improve my skimming and scanning skills to find the most relevant supporting materials". The success of the students' final projects, inevitably, results from their critical thinking and creation. From the statistical result of O5 (Mean=3.93), we learn that 80% of the subjects were able to decide how to complete their share of the task in their own ways. And their individual reports and my observation notes also showed that learners could choose their preferred learning methods and styles in agreement with their interests and cognitive abilities. For instance, in group 7, tasks were divided based on each group member's strengths and weaknesses. "The one who was good at communication would be responsible for contacting the company and interviewing related people; the one who was skillful in writing was in charge of revising group articles..."(Liu, group 7). Obviously, in this way everyone would take an active part in fulfilling their learning tasks at hand and were able to bring about their initiatives into full play.

The research also shows that more than 93% subjects agreed or strongly agreed that they had the chance to modify their way of doing the group project when necessary (Q7, Mean=4.1). Take group 1 for example, originally they had intended to explore the differences between the two management systems from four angles: human resources management, welfare system, productivity and manufacturing process. However, shortly after they conducted the research, they found out that they could not dig the last two deeper and the first two aspects in some ways overlapped with each other. In this case, they decided to leave out the remaining three and focus only on one aspect: the comparison of human resources management of stateowned enterprises and foreign-funded companies. Their research turned out to be a great success winning the credit for the "Overall Best Group" and "Best Cooperation Group" in their final group-work assessment. Their findings, in my opinion, do shed some lights on the management system of state-owned enterprises. For instance, they gave some specific examples of how foreign enterprises motivate their employees on different occasions through external and internal rewards, which enable the reader to have a better understanding why foreign enterprises are considered to be more advanced and charming than state-owned ones. It is no doubt that their successful achievements in the project can be attributed to their control over the learning method.

Furthermore, from the writer's observation and learners' individual reports, learners were able to choose their own time and place of learning in the whole project. The teacher did help to check the action plans and ensure that tasks in each stage got finished before the deadline, but it was each group which was responsible for planning the distribution in time, deciding when a particular aspect of the work should be started, continued or interrupted. Some groups reported that access to the Internet enabled them to hold group discussions, ask for other groups' advice or make literature research anytime they wanted. It was evident that the learning time and space extended far beyond the traditional class hours and rooms. Of course, different learners require varying degrees of self control, but just as McGarry (1995) concluded, if learners are encouraged to take responsibility for their own work by being given some control over what, how and when they learn, they are more likely to set realistic goals, develop strategies for coping with new and unforeseen situations and gradually learn how to be more efficient learners.

2. Learners work in a supportive atmosphere

Learner autonomy does not mean learner isolation or "teacherless learning". It has been widely recognized that autonomy is a dynamic social process, where teachers have a crucial role to play in launching learners into self-access and in lending them a regular helping hand to stay afloat (Thanasoulas, 2000). This is especially true in China's EFL context, as learners are too dependent on teachers and they feel too hard to take control of every aspect of learning. The survey shows that more than 83% subjects considered the project-based learning atmosphere cooperative and supportive (Q9, Mean=3.93) and 87% of them agreed or strongly agreed that they could get immediate feedback from the teacher or the tutor on their thoughts, ideas and performance (Q18, Mean=3.97). Q11 (Mean=4.2), investigating students' opinions on the teacher's facilitating role, achieved the second highest mean score, which demonstrates that the learners obtained the teacher's systematic support. In the whole project, the writer witnessed a large amount of email-based or face-to-face interaction and negotiation between the teacher and the students.

In group 4, for example, most of the group members did not have a solid language foundation and they were slow in learning. Inevitably, they encountered many more problems when

conducting the research on the success of Schindler. They were confused about the logical arrangement and the first drafts of their research report turned out to be highly disorganised. Fortunately, the teacher offered them very individualized suggestions and patient assistance, such as slight lowering the requirements, asking them to review the research methods and advising them to conduct peer-editing and learn from others first. Instead of being a traditional purveyor of information, the teacher became the counselor and manager of learning resources. Her guidance provided an avenue for learners to solve the problems on their own. Most importantly, she helped to build up their confidence in independent learning. As a result, group 4 successfully reorganized their independent research and analyzed the related factors from the following 8 perspectives, "training programs", "high quality product", "research and development", "brand", "solutions for wide applications", "after-sale service", "the way of gaining customers" and "credit". It is obvious that their findings are more specific and profound than during the first attempt.

All of the students' individual reports shared one common feature: they spoke highly of peer support. Just as Wu from group 6 reviewed, "Everyone contributes one's own ideas and efforts to the research project. If he or she has any problems, we will lend a hand to his or her. And we also often get some advice from other groups..." Peers' sparking ideas did contribute to their final achievements. And the Internet made it easier for them to contact their teacher, peers, or friends outside the campus for advice conveniently and efficiently via email or ICQ.

Students' weekly reports proved to be another efficient way to for students to get mutual help. In addition to sharing their successful tips and effective strategies with other groups, they pointed out the difficulties they ran into. Then other groups and the teacher would give suggestions and advice for improvement. "When everybody adds fuel the flames rise high", all the obstacles, after a heated discussion, soon gave way to confidence and solutions. By learning from each other and sharing what they knew, students worked toward their common goals.

3. Learners are involved in assessment process in the CALL Project

Self-assessment is an indispensable component of autonomous learning (Dickinson, 1993). Its main objectives are to enable students to learn from practical experience, to encourage them to become more responsible for their own learning and to enable them to continue to have the ability throughout their adult lives. It plays a crucial role in networks in this CALL project. With the teacher's instruction, which is quite necessary at an early stage of self-directed learning, students in our project did various self evaluation and group assessment, such as an individual report on one's collaborative project experience, group comments on the webpage presentation and self-evaluation on the research report. The Intranet in the computer lab eased the process of self and group editing and commenting. Students' work could be freely sent to more than one recipient for comments. As a result, this convenient way of sharing files helped students get more feedback and ideas, just as Zhu from group 7 reported: "when revising pair group's project, we made a comparison with our own, which allowed us to know our merits and demerits clearly and absorb others' advantages to improve our own project". Since their overall performance throughout the project rather than a single exam could be taken into account for the final assessment, the self-assessment at each stage did help them to modify their learning strategies and make up for their weaknesses. Students' responses to Q15 (Mean=4.1, the third highest mean score) confirmed that more than 93% students checked their work before having it evaluated by the teacher. The teacher, according to the writer's

observation, monitored the peer editing, making sure that each individual and group acted appropriately.

4. Learners are exposed to and encouraged to produce varied and creative language

Traditionally, students' language exposure was mainly from textbooks, which was not sufficient for language acquisition. According to Spolsky (1989: 166), "the outcome of language learning depends in large measure on the amount and kind of exposure to the target language." Getting plenty of exposure to language, especially first-hand language materials, is the prerequisite for successful language learning. The CALL project is reported to enlarge students' language exposure and improve their writing fluency through the intensive practice of meaningful writing. This is supported by the high mean for the related questions (Q19, Mean=4.07; Q20, Mean=4.04) designed to examine the subjects' language improvement. The Internet, books and email correspondents offer students encyclopedic sources for information. The example here could be group 7, whose research focus was on Success of Acer CM, a rising star within the computer manufacturing industry in the Post-PC Era. In order to find all the relevant materials on production, management and sales, they went to the library, emailed their friends for information and used the Internet. In consequence, they found themselves exposed to a variety of language input. In this case, they exercised their critical thinking to extract the useful information. Just as Warschsuer remarked in the TESOL'99 Preconvention On-line Workshops, "those who are able to access, adapt, and make use of information and knowledge, using new information technologies are those who will succeed in all walks of life". Instead of being the passive textbook readers, they become the skilful language manipulators.

Moreover, they were provided with sufficient opportunities to engage in meaningful use of language and to produce comprehensible language output, which is also a means to language development. As Wu reported,

"I find my language ability improved greatly due to this project. We need to use English from beginning to end. Discussing, outlining, writing, proofreading, etc were all in English. We found mistakes now and then, and we corrected them as soon as possible. Because of these practices, we learned new words, new grammar, new idiom etc. We were just like sponge, absorbed all the wonderful knowledge."

In addition to the email correspondence and weekly report, they got themselves familiarized with different discourse patterns in the whole research report. For instance, they had to know how to express their thanks in the acknowledgement, how to generalize their process in the abstract, how to describe their research in the methodology part and how to analyze their findings in the discussion part. When doing a survey outside the campus and holding discussion with their peers and the teacher, they had the chance to use English to communicate, formulate ideas and solve problems. In short, they were engaged in the use of English in the ways that native speakers normally are. The language production process, on the other hand, stimulated them to read more and find more. At last, when their writing products were put on the Web, technology helped refine and popularize their work so that they would get more feedback from authentic audiences.

5. Learners' real-world abilities are enhanced in the project

This project is regarded as a "quality-oriented education", during which students can put what they have learned into practice and acquire knowledge they cannot learn from books. All the

subjects concluded that the project built up a bridge between books and real life. In the university, they did not have to worry about anything and took the teacher's and parents' help for granted. But once they stepped into the society, they encountered many more challenges than they had expected. Facing cold faces when distributing the questionnaire, getting refusal from the top managers or the executives of the companies, and even laughed at by passers-by in the street are just trivial difficulties in the whole process. Some students thought of giving up, but the consistent encouragement from the teacher and the classmates inspired them to continue. They learned to be patient, persistent and diligent; how to speak appropriately in different situations, how to contact people of all types and how to gain other people's understanding and support. In fact, this research project enabled them to gain a deep insight into the society before graduation from school. Many students have realized that book knowledge is far from enough for survival and they have to get well prepared both academically and psychologically. Others have come to see from the research that English and computer skills are just tools, they have to have a command of marketing and trade knowledge in order to be accepted by foreign-funded companies.

Most importantly, they learned one truth from their own experiences, i.e, "Everything is possible if one tries." Just as Warschauer (1997) commented, students are engaged in meaningful tasks and solve meaningful problems in the CALL project. They not only bridged the gap between hands-on work and abstract learning, but also succeeded in tackling tasks which they would face in the near future, just as one group writes in their project research report,

"During the research, we met a lot of difficulties. We have been refused and laughed at for many times. But we believe what we have done in this semester will benefit our major study and finally will be helpful to our future career" (Group 5, 98 Foreign Trade).

Implications

This pilot study witnessed how students explored knowledge in a way quite different from the traditional learning. Their initiatives and potential were to some degree brought into play in the self-directed learning process. However, since it was the first time for them to participate in the project, the weaknesses they displayed were unavoidable. Therefore, the students and the facilitators need to make joint efforts to compensate for those deficiencies so as to pave the way for more effective autonomous learning.

Firstly, pre-project training needs to be carried out. During the whole project, the writer found out that several subjects showed their passiveness and unwillingness in the course of doing their tasks, even if the tasks were of their preferences. In that case, their group leader had to shoulder more burdens. When analyzing the reasons, it turned out that those students did not have a clear idea of the purposes of the project. They seemed to be accustomed to the regular courses and did not wish to be disturbed. Some students were frightened and frustrated by the technical requirements because of lack of former experience. Therefore, it is proposed that a basic training aiming at building up students' confidence and equipping them with the skills of using related software be essential for participants to get actively involved in whole process.

Secondly, inter-group cooperation needs to be strengthened. Group works ensured that each member cooperated with others and worked together toward their common goals. However, this inevitably resulted in the fierce competition between groups. It is true that appropriate competition promotes healthy growth, but if it goes to the extreme, it will hinder the process. For example, some students did not like the evaluation sheet because each one tended to give

his group the highest score. That is why only 70% students (Q17, Mean=3.87; Q1, Mean=3.8) spoke highly of the group evaluation sheet. Thus, it is recommended that next time the evaluation sheet design work be assigned to students themselves.

Conclusion

Learner autonomy is considered as a highly desirable outcome of learning. However, autonomy is a process, not a product (Thanasoulas, 2000). One does not become autonomous; one only works towards autonomy. This is especially the case in China's EFL context, where the majority of students are still being taught in ways which promote dependence, leaving them ill-equipped to apply their school-learnt knowledge and skills to the world beyond the classroom. "If we just push the shoots to grow by pulling them upward." (Chinese idiom) and leave all the control to learners overnight, they would be at a loss. Therefore, a training process needs to be carried out between the traditional spoon-feeding method and learner control.

The research project just serves as a training process, taking students from their states of varying degrees of dependence to the state of the greatest degree of independence. It starts from larger groups towards smaller groups, pairs and finally individuals and from giving the students fewer choices concerning their learning and work towards many choices, and finally freer choices such as open-ended tasks, thus allowing students to make their choices entirely on their own. Besides, it provides the perfect opportunity for learners to go out and use their language. In becoming actively involved in the process of learning, students may set their own objectives. By working independently of the teacher both inside and outside the classroom and selecting and using the strategies best suited to the occasion, they may realize a sense of autonomy. This learner training process can broaden the horizons of the learner and may empower him or her to become autonomous in their present or future language learning.

The whole project not only involves the students' active participation and cooperation, but also sets a high demand on teachers. Many people assume that the teachers in the autonomous settings will transfer all responsibilities to learners, thus becoming a redundant part of the learning process. As a matter of fact, the success of LA enhancement depends to a great extent on an active role for teachers, whether in a classroom or a self-access center. In other words, the teacher still plays an indispensable role in working towards autonomous learning, but instead of being the traditional knowledge giver, he or she will be a facilitator, a counselor and a helper. His or her guidance and encouragement will prove beneficial towards learners' autonomous learning, as all learners need to be prepared and supported on the path to greater autonomy (Jones, 2001).

Acknowledgement

I owe great indebtedness to my supervisor, Professor Peiya Gu, for her guidance of this project and valuable help with numerous revisions of this paper.

References

Bicknell, J. (1999) "Promoting writing and computer literacy skills through student-authored web pages." *TESOL Journal*, 8 (1), 20-25.

Blin, F. (1999) "CALL and the development of learner autonomy." In R. Debski & M. Levy (Eds.), *World CALL: Global perspectives on computer-assisted language learning.* The Netherlands: Swets & Zeitlinger Publishers, 133-149.

Boud, D. (Ed.) (1988) Developing student autonomy in learning. New York: Kogan Press.

Breen, M. (1987) "Contemporary paradigms in syllabus design." *Language Teaching* 20, 91-92.

Brown, H. D. (1994) *Teaching by principles: An interaction approach to language pedagogy*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Dickinson, L. (1978) "Autonomy, self-directed learning and individualization" *ELT Documents* 103. London: The British Council.

Chapelle, C.A. (1994) "CALL activities: Are they all the same?" System 22, 33-45.

Cotterall, S. (1995) "Promoting learner autonomy through the curriculum." *ELT Journal* 49 (3), 219-227.

Dam, L. (1990) "Learner autonomy in practice." In I. Gathercole (Ed.) CILT. London: Bourne Press.

Dickinson, L. (1993) Learner autonomy 2: Training for language learning. Dublin: Authentik.

Donato, R., McCormic, D. (1994) "A sociocultural perspective on language learning strategies: The role of mediation." *Modern Language Journal* 78, 453-464.

Egbert, J., Hanson-Smith, E. (1999) "Theory and research: Autonomy in language learning." *CALL environment: Research, practice and critical issues.* Alexandria, VA: TESOL Publications, 391-406.

Griffee, D. (1998) "Classroom self-assessment - A pilot study." JALT Journal 20 (1), 115-125.

Holec, H. (1981) Autonomy and foreign language learning. Oxford: Pergamon.

Jones, J. (2001) "CALL and the teacher's role in promoting learner autonomy." *CALL-EJ Online*, 3 (1), http://www.clec.ritsumei.ac.jp/english/callejonline/6-1/jones.html

Lee, I. (1998) "Supporting greater autonomy in language learning." *ELT Journal* 152 (4), 282-289.

Little, D. (1991) *Learner autonomy 1: Definitions, issues and problems*. Dublin: Authentic Language Learning Resources Ltd.

Littlewood, W. (1999) "Defining and developing autonomy in East Asian contexts." *Applied Linguistics* 20 (1), 71-94.

Littlewood, W. (2000) "Do Asian students really want to listen and obey." *ELT Journal* 54 (1), 31-35.

Liu, Y. M. (2001) "Net aids lingo study." 21st Century, July 12, p. 14.

McGarry, D. (1995) Learner autonomy 4: The role of authentic texts. Dublin: Authentik.

Nunan, D. (1988) The learner-centered curriculum. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Pemberton, R. (1996) *Taking control: autonomy in language learning*. Hong Kong: Hong Kong University Press.

Piaget, J. (1977) Equilibration of cognitive structures. New York: Viking Press.

Richards, J., Platt, J., Platt, H. (1992) *Longman dictionary of language teaching and applied linguistics*. London: Longman.

Shen, J. (1999) "Learner anxiety and computer-assisted writing." CALL-EJ 1, 1-8.

Spolsky, B. (1989) *Conditions for second language learning: Introduction to a general theory.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Thanasoulas, D. (2000) "What is learner autonomy and how can it be fostered." *The Internet TESL Journal*, 6 (11), http://www.aitech.ac.jp/~iteslj/Articles/Thanasoulas-Autonomy.html.

Warschauer, M. (1997) "Computer-mediated collaborative learning: Theory and practice." *Modern Language Journal* 81 (3), 470-481.

Warschauer, M., Turbee, L., Roberts, B. (1996) "Computer learning networks and student empowerment." *System* 24 (1),1-14.

Warschauer, M., Shetzer, H., Meloni, C. (2000) *Internet for English teaching*. Alexandria, VA: TESOL Publications.

Wertsch, J. (Ed.) (1988) *Cognition: Vygotskian perspectives*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Wolff, D. (1997) "Computers and new technologies: Will they change language learning and teaching?" In J. Kohn, B. Ruschoff & D. Wolff (Eds.). *New Horizons in CALL, Proceedings of EUROCALL 96.* Hull: EUROCALL, 65-82.

Appendix I

The following tables demonstrate the mean score, standard deviation, students' frequency and percentage of choosing "strongly agree" and "agree" to each item. The results of the 20 items are listed under three parts based on which the questionnaire is designed (F: Frequency; P: Percentage).

Table 1 Learner choice

Questions	Mean	SD	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Q2.After the task division, each member can decide what to do about his/her own task.	3.9	0.48	25	83%
Q4.I help my group to decide on topics for research and discussion.	4.03	0.55	26	86.7%
Q5.I can decide how to complete my share of the task in my own ways.	3.93	0.58	24	80%
Q6.Our group decides how to use the libraries, reference rooms and computer labs to search materials and process our data.	4.03	0.56	26	86.7%

Q7.We can modify our ways of doing the group project when necessary.	4.1	0.48	28	93.3%
Q10.I think being responsible for one's own learning is a good habit that we should get into.	4.43	0.50	30	100%

Table II Supporting atmosphere

Questions	Mean	SD	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Q3.I have chances to discuss problems and difficulties with group members at every stage.	3.97	0.55	25	83.3%
Q8.I enjoy the flexibility of this project-based groups learning activity.	3.77	0.50	22	73.3%
Q9. The project-based learning atmosphere is cooperative and supportive.	3.93	0.52	25	83.3%
Q11.The teacher or the tutor acts as a helper rather than a dominator in the whole project	4.2	0.55	28	93.3%
Q12.We cannot complete the task unless everyone contributes his or her best.	3.73	0.78	20	66.7%
Q13.My opinions and suggestions are often neglected in the groups work.	2.06 (2.94 when reverse coded)	0.58	24	80%
Q14.I feel happy to play a more active role in the group discussion.	4.03	0.56	26	86.7%
Q18.I can get immediate feedback from the teacher or the tutor to my thoughts, ideas and performance.	3.97	0.49	26	86.7%

Table III Self-assessment

Questions	Mean	SD	Frequency	Percentage
Q1.We find the project evaluation sheet enables us to assess our work from many perspectives.	3.8	0.71	21	70%
O15 Over amove shoot over over hafana	4.1	0.48	28	93.3%

having it evaluated by the teacher.				
Q16.We find peer editing valuable in our report writing process.	3.53	0.51	16	53.3%
Q17.We find the individual and group evaluation sheets helpful for our own assessment and peer assessment.	3.87	0.62	22	73.3%

Appendix II Survey

Part One: Background Information

Chinese name: English name:
Age:
Sex:
Class:
You started learning English from
Primary/GradeJunior/GradeSenior/Grade
Your English mark for TEM 4 is
Other tests
BEC2/BEC3/CET4/CET6/TOEFL/GRE/
Check if you have a computer at home or in the dormitory?
Please rate your knowledge of computers before participating in the research project.
Poor fair good very good excellent
Please rate your knowledge of computers now.
Poor fair good very good excellent
How often did you write emails before participating in the project?
Daily Weekly A few times in a month rarely never
How often do you write E-mail now?
Daily Weekly A few times in a month rarely never
How often did you visit English websites before participating in the project?
Daily Weeklya few times in a monthrarely never

How often did you visit English w	rebsites now?
Daily Weeklya few times in	a monthrarely never
	Thank you for your cooperation!

Part Two: Questions on Autonomous Learning

The following statements describe some feelings and actions you might have experienced during the project. Please select one number (1-5) that best fit your case and put it on the left margin of each statement:

1=strongly disagree 2=disagree 3=neutral 4=agree 5=strongly agree

- 1. (3.8) We find the project evaluation sheet enables us to assess our work from many perspectives.
- 2. (3.9) After the task division, each member can decide what to do about his/her own task.
- 3. (3.97) I have chances to discuss problems and difficulties with group members at every stage.
- 4. (4.03) I help my group to decide on topics for research and discussion.
- 5. (3.93) I can decide how to complete my share of the task in my own ways.
- 6. (4.03) Our group decides how to use the libraries, reference rooms and computer labs to search materials and process our data.
- 7. (4.1) We can modify our ways of doing the group project when necessary.
- 8. (3.77) I enjoy the flexibility of this project-based groups learning activity.
- 9. (3.93) The project-based learning atmosphere is cooperative and supportive
- 10. (4.43) I think being responsible for one's own learning is a good habit that we should get into.
- 11. (4.2) The teacher or the tutor acts as a helper rather than a dominator in the whole project
- 12. (3.73) We cannot complete the task unless everyone contributes his or her best.
- 13. (2.06) My opinions and suggestions are often neglected in the groups work.
- 14. (4.03) I feel happy to play a more active role in the group discussion.
- 15. (4.1) Our group check our own before having it evaluated by the teacher.
- 16. (3.53) We find peer editing valuable in our report writing process.
- 17. (3.87) We find the individual and group evaluation sheets helpful for our own assessment and peer assessment.
- 18. (3.97) I can get immediate feedback from the teacher or the tutor to my thoughts, ideas and performance.
- 19. (4.07) I have many opportunities to practice writing in English in the whole project.
- 20. (4.04) I think the research project is helpful for my language learning.

Appendix III Interview questions:

- 1. What do you think of the role that the computer-assisted project plays in your language learning?
- 2. Do you think that the project offers you a variety of activities that encourage you to use English meaningfully?
- 3. What do you think of the self-directed learning process in doing the project, helpful or difficult?
- 4. Could you monitor your learning process in doing the project?
- 5. What do you think of the role that the teacher or the tutor plays in the whole project?
- 6. What do you think of the role that the computer or the network plays in the whole project?

Appendix IV

Group 1: Comparison of Human Resource Management between State-Owned Enterprises and Foreign-Funded Companies

- Group 2: Human Resource Management
- Group 3: Is Online Selling Gloomy or Promising
- Group 4: The Study of the Success of Schindler
- Group 5: The Study of the Successful Promotion of KFC in Suzhou
- Group 6: Challenges faced by Middle Managers
- Group 7: Success of Acer CM

THE INTERNET IN ESL COLLEGE EDUCATION:

A PROPOSAL FOR THE INTERNET -ENHANCED COLLEGE COURSE

by Malgorzata Kurek

Wyzsza Szkola Lingwistyczna,

Czestochowa, Poland

gosia@wsl.edu.pl

Introduction

In this paper I will describe a proposal for an ESL college course that incorporates technology into a linguistically-oriented syllabus. It improves learners' English language skills, develops their autonomy as language learners as well as helps them acquire the whole range of literacies that necessitate success in the information-driven environment of the 21st century. I will begin by specifying the needs for changing the traditional ESL college curriculum. Then I will present the objectives and the content of the course. I will conclude by discussing its practical aspects, with emphasis placed on anticipated problems.

The course designed and conducted by the author of the paper resulted from a growing need to adjust traditional ESL college standards to the requirements of the modern, information-driven world. It cannot be denied that the advent of the computer, and the Internet in particular, has brought about significant changes in the way the goals of higher education are perceived. The changes have deeply affected the areas described below.

Didactic teaching versus active learning

The point to note is that our schooling at all levels is still dominated by the didactic style of teaching. According to this model, the quality of teaching and learning is equivalent to the amount of factual knowledge mastered by learners. In this approach learning is passive, with students receiving linear sequence of facts authoritatively delivered via lectures, handouts or textbooks (Mather, 1996). Thus, the less distortion between the input (knowledge) and students' output, the better their performance.

The didactic pattern of passing and memorizing decontextualised knowledge, so typical of traditional instruction, appears particularly out of date in the light of modern technology achievements. An individual's ability to memorize and retrieve factual knowledge may seem of no value in the digital, information-oriented world where all the data required can be easily and quickly accessed through the network of interlinked electronic sources – the Internet. In the era of narrow-field specialists the extensive knowledge of facts, dates or definitions seems at least redundant. Information of all kind is abundant on the WWW, it continues to double at an increasingly fast rate and as such is impossible to be acquired by an individual. What appears much more valuable in this situation is individual's ability to locate the required bit of

information as quickly and efficiently as possible followed by their critical judgment as to its value and culminated in the intelligent use of the data collected.

Critical thinking skills

The authoritative nature of didactic approach combined with the use of textbooks as the primary means of information delivery favours the largely uncritical acceptance of information (Mather, 1996). As textbooks are static in nature, they usually present knowledge as it was at the moment of printing. What is more, they contain only views and facts that have been selected and thus pre-censored by an author. Moreover, in traditional curricula students have little opportunity to gain access to raw, unfiltered, even contradictory information that dominates in the real world. Consequently, they tend to slavishly accept and trust whatever sources they have access to.

On the other hand, the application of the Internet requires "new dimensions of thinking" [1]. It confronts its users with several, usually conflicting points of view on the basis of which they are supposed to form their own judgment. The realization that these requirements are beyond an average ESL college student's reach came to me while I was monitoring a group of 2nd year students working in a computer lab. Their task was to evaluate several webpages in terms of their reliability, usefulness, attractiveness, etc. The criteria for evaluation had been established and agreed upon and the task itself seemed relatively simple. To my surprise, students were unable to apply them correctly to the examples they viewed on the computer screen. Pages which appeared to include scientifically proven research work but clearly designed with the purpose of mocking the convention through a ridiculous subject [2] were classified as absolutely reliable by all the students. Mature and experienced language learners were unprepared to think critically, analyse and evaluate information and draw conclusions. Similar situations followed giving rise to the suspicion that at present content knowledge is insufficient for students to succeed.

Indeed, as we have been presented with a new challenge: a wealth of information distributed with few restrictions and often limited information about the author of the material, teaching critical thinking skills to students appears absolutely crucial to their future success as workers, researchers or educators. Especially, as with the increasing use of web-based technology to collect and interpret information, success in today's world seems to be largely determined by the individual's ability to analyse problems and make thoughtful decisions rather than recall previously memorised facts.

Multiliteracies

Not a novelty any more, computers have radically changed not only the way we communicate, but also our perception of literacy. First of all, the main communication medium of today - the Internet, through its very nature alters the ways we read and write. As it makes use of hypertext, which creates a very different way of storing and presenting information, it fosters a non-linear pattern of exploration (Kasper,1999). Clickable phrases and the interlinked nature of electronic documents leave the choice of the exploration procedure in the hands of the learner. Accordingly, the sequence of viewed documents remains unpredictable and may vary from learner to learner giving them greater control over both the content and the whole process of reading or writing.

Warschauer (2000) observes that the shift of reading practices from the page to the screen is so substantial that it should bring about changes in how we teach skimming, scanning and guessing words from context. Similarly, the widespread use of computers and the Internet raises the profile of writing and the need for effective written communication since almost every computer user is a potential author writing and publishing for international audience. Additionally, as most of the writing, either formal or informal, is already done on a computer screen, it can be predicted that new writing/authoring skills will become essential and as such should be covered in school curricula.

The growing awareness of these phenomena gave rise to the concept of "multiliteracies" – a term coined by the New London Group which undermines the traditional understanding of the term "literacy". Instead, it is defined as a diverse range of factual, academic, critical and electronic skills that determine success in today's world. It makes the task particularly difficult for ESL students, especially at college level, who are expected to become equally competent in four increasingly difficult areas :

- 1. functional literacy the ability to speak, understand, read and write English as well as use English to acquire, articulate and expand their knowledge
- 2. academic literacy the ability to read and understand interdisciplinary texts, analyse and respond to those texts through various modes of written and oral discourse and expand their knowledge through research
- 3. critical literacy the ability to evaluate the validity and reliability of informational sources so that they may draw conclusions
- 4. electronic literacy the ability to select and use electronic tools for communication, construction, research and autonomous learning

(Shetzer, 1998, cited in Kasper, 2000)

As it can be easily noticed, traditional ESL programmes focus on the first aspect of literacy only. This basic training is insufficient for the majority of college students, who at this level are expected to be academically and even critically literate. The point is that they are expected to already display such skills but have not been previously trained in them. The discrepancy between the requirements of an institution and learners' true abilities may culminate in students' failure to meet relatively high standards of performance set by colleges and subsequently expected by future employers.

Course description

The course called "WebProject" is based on the assumption that traditional ESL college training is insufficient to prepare students for the new challenges of the academic and workforce requirements in the 21st century. Thus, a new pedagogical model should be adopted to promote the idea of active, autonomous learning and foster critical thinking skills. Its imperative should be to incorporate information technology as an integral component and to aim at developing the range of literacies required for an individual to be successful in a digital society. "WebProject" also addresses the needs of 2nd year students of Wyzsza Szkola Lingwistyczna in Czestochowa, preparing them for the strenuous work of writing their B.A. thesis (*licencjat*).

"WebProject" was first incorporated in the 2nd year Practical English (PE) module in the year 2000. At first it was conducted as a piloting programme and limited to one group only. At

present it has been fully developed as an integral and obligatory part of the PE module. It combines the principles of inquiry-based learning,[3] project-based approach and cognitive constructivism and is intended to foster the following skills and abilities:

- the confident use of electronic resources to gather, use and interpret information, (electronic literacy);
- the acquisition of a wide range of lexical items from a variety of disciplines (history, biology, geography, social studies, etc.);
- the ability to conduct thoughtful research with the use of traditional and Web resources:
- the ability to evaluate and select information obtained from the Internet (fostering critical thinking skills);
- higher-order thinking skills (analysis, synthesis, comparison, contrast, etc.);
- the use of online materials in one's own learning.

It also aims at:

- increasing learners' motivation through a variety of interdisciplinary tasks;
- activating and employing skills other than linguistic (visual, interpersonal, kinaesthetic intelligences) and directing them towards language learning;
- promoting cooperative learning.

In order to achieve the above goals the syllabus guides learners through activities that culminate in collaborative projects based on WebQuests – Web-based, long-term, interdisciplinary activities developed by B. Dodge and commonly used in American education. Although designed for native speakers of English, webquests, if carefully selected, can serve well in ESL education. First of all, they increase students' motivation by making them face an authentic task of tackling a controversial issue. As topics are complex, students work in teams developing expertise in one of their aspects. The overall understanding is gained due to students' cooperation in a later stage of the process (March, 1998). Webquests, either short- or long-term, share some characteristic features that guarantee their efficiency and clarity of purpose. They contain: (from Dodge, 1995)

- the Introduction, which presents students with background information and captures their interest:
- the Task, which describes the activity's end product;
- the Process, explaining strategies students should use to complete the task, usually broken into clearly described steps;
- the Resources, or the suggested Web sites students will need to complete the task;
- the Evaluation which measures the results of the activity.

In order to carry out their projects successfully, learners are guided through the following stages of progressive complexity:

- learning basic electronic skills (typing and word processing in general, using email, locating information on the screen, performing treasure hunts);
- adapting Internet resources (e.g. creating an e-newspaper, implementing pictures, citing information found on the Web);
- evaluating Internet resources in terms of their credibility, validity, attractiveness, authorship, etc.;

- performing a guided research in which the process of framing fundamental and essential questions is stressed [4];
- creating a slideshow or webpage to illustrate the issue.

Participants of WebProject meet once a week for a 2-hour session in a computer lab. Each student has access to their own computer, although pair or group work is often suggested. All the classes are conducted entirely in English by a practising college teacher. Although the syllabus may seem Information Technology-oriented, all the tasks serve as a framework for language learning. Therefore, purely linguistic activities are stressed e.g., understanding the language of the news, using corpora to check collocations or using on-line dictionaries. Students are required to fulfil several assignments in a semester, all of which are to be sent to the teacher via email. They range from reviewing search engines and websites to preparing web bibliographies on a given subject or writing a fictitious news item. (see the full syllabus and matching assignments in Appendix A). The work is checked, commented upon and sent back to the author in the same way. It is frequently used as a basis for typically linguistic tasks such as error correction, gap filling etc.

The point to note is that during all the classes students learn by doing the focus of each meeting is to complete a specific, authentic task rather than acquire factual knowledge. Thus, carefully designed handouts are prepared and distributed by the teacher to guide learners step by step through the whole process of completing the task (for a sample handout see Appendix B). This method allows for self-paced work and helps avoid the common problem of mixedability (in terms of computer literacy) groups. Students who visibly stay behind the others can be asked to omit some elements of the task and move on to the key issues of the meeting. Similarly, advanced learners can always find additional tasks to stir their interest and keep them busy. Students' progress is constantly monitored by the teacher, who is a facilitator and advisor rather than an authoritarian.

The syllabus culminates in webquests. They are used as a preparation for genuine research work that students will have to face in the 3rd year of their studies. Learners are allowed to find their group partners and choose a topic of interest to them. As webquests cover a variety of topics and disciplines such as architecture, biology or science, learners may activate their interests and, subsequently, their motivation to participate in a project significantly increases.

Table 1. Sample WebQuests implemented in the course.

Title	Overview	Available at:
Hello Dolly: A WebQuest about Cloning	Governments around the world are currently debating the potential impact of cloning on society. The purpose of this discussion is to determine how to legislate cloning. Students' task will be to ask good questions, access current information, analyze the validity of sources, reach consensus with their peers, take action, and explain the consequences. All in an effort to answer one primary question: What government policy should be established to regulate cloning?	http://powayusd.sdcoe.k12.ca.us/projects/dolly/

Comet WebQuest	A team of prominent scientists has just discovered a deadly comet headed for Earth. It will impact the earth in just one year. This comet has the potential of destroying the human race. Students work as a team of scientists to find solutions to this threat. They must present their findings to an international task force.	http://www.slc.k12.ut.us/webweavers/suea/cometweb.htm
Global Warming	Welcome to the U.N. conference on climate control and greenhouse gas emissions! The 167 nations of the Earth have come together this week to agree upon a way to stop the process of global warming. You and your fellow U.N. specialty teams on climate control are here to decide on a piece of legislation that would decrease the emissions of greenhouse gases by 20% by the year 2005. After investigating the issues and questions facing your committee, you will present your conclusions and decide whether you will endorse the legislation.	http://students.itec.sfsu.edu/ITEC815/antaramian/

It is worth noticing that webquests ideally address the idea of inquiry-based learning. They never require students to find a ready-made answer. Instead, the process of arriving at it is stressed as learners are presented with a vast amount of information which must be critically evaluated, understood, selected and transformed into the final product. What is more, all the work requires collaboration. The participants are assigned roles within which they act as experts (e.g. a journalist, a scientist). In the process they learn to communicate, collaborate and they become used to the idea that nobody knows everything, but everything can be learned if there is such a need.

Students' final product is threefold. It consists of an oral, visual and written part. All the parts are equally important and together they compose the student's final grade. Each of them is evaluated according to the criteria known to learners prior to fulfilling the task. The criteria for evaluation are presented in the table below:

Table 2. Criteria for Evaluating Students' Final Performance.

Part	Evaluation criteria
Oral: a speech, a lecture, a presentation (no reading is allowed)	 Content and relevance to the topic Language (vocabulary range, grammar, pronunciation) Addressing the public (maintaining eye contact, using appropriate intonation)
Visual: a slideshow, a webpage, a model	 Informative value Visual attractiveness

	Clarity
Written: an opinion essay, a discursive essay, a report, an overview (no plagiarism is accepted)	 Language use: register, style, vocabulary range, grammar, coherence and cohesion Content, relevance to the topic Sources used - proper citing, references

All the presentations are given in public and are commented upon by students' classmates. Additionally, feedback and advice on future performance is given to each of the participants individually. One of the equally important elements is a discussion about the problems that each of the teams encountered in the process of preparing their research. Surprisingly, learners seem truly relieved to talk to the teacher about their weaknesses and difficulties they had. Wise encouragement on the part of the teacher can convince learners that obstacles can be confronted and overcome, and one's weaknesses can be made into strengths.

Although the course syllabus is still in the process of creation, the course has already appeared extremely fruitful for both the teacher and the students. Their comments, surveyed in the final questionnaire proved the usefulness and applicability of the new subject, which was rated 8.7 out of 10. Most of the students either changed their attitude to using electronic media (30%), or strongly emphasized their usefulness in their self-development and future studies (53%). The subject activated even those students who had been perceived as weak and passive. Those of them who hardly ever participated in classes proved to be extremely efficient as group leaders, information seekers or graphics designers. It confirmed the suspicion that our schooling is traditionally skewed towards promoting linguistic or mathematical intelligences and only learners with these abilities are likely to succeed in a traditional classroom environment. Although it seems that integrating information technology with a language curriculum is likely to activate skills other than linguistic and, paradoxically, direct them towards language learning, further research is yet to be conducted in this area.

Anticipated problems

The course presented in this paper is likely to produce a number of highly positive outcomes, however a word of caution must be warranted at this juncture: integrating technology into a second language classroom is not only a rewarding, but also a strenuous task. First of all, the application of computer work must be fully justified by the content of the course and clearly linked to previous and subsequent activities. What is more, many teachers wrongly assume that all young learners are computer literate. Contrary to this popular belief, it can be almost taken for granted that in an average group there will be real techies as well as technophobes. Thus, apart from different levels of linguistic competence, the teacher is likely to be confronted with a mixed-ability group in terms of technical skills. Thus, designing a clear, easy to follow handout that specifies the tasks and breaks them into a step-by-step procedure may be of great help both to the instructor and the learners, allowing them to work at their own pace.

Furthermore, purely technical problems cannot be left unnoticed. There are students whose work always results in a computer failure. However, an IT teacher's constant assistance seems a luxury few schools can afford. Having a few spare computer workstations might be a

solution to individual cases. Also, it is crucial that a backup lesson be prepared in case of a major computer crash or slow Internet connection.

Conclusions

Due to all the difficulties mentioned above, combining technology and linguistic content requires teacher's devotion and a lot of preparation. However, it is a very rewarding experience, too. Unlike most activities and interaction patterns that prevail in traditional curricula, infusing technology in the classroom may significantly contribute to the growth in learners' motivation, autonomy and thinking skills. If used constructively, it addresses the idea of active learning and stimulates the development of academic, critical and electronic literacies that undoubtedly determine success in today's world. New conditions pose new challenges and call for new skills, yet it needs to be stressed that computers can never substitute teachers. On the contrary, they can offer them new opportunities for better language instruction.

Notes

- 1. Term coined by R. J. Marzano and R. Brandt in: Marzano, R.J., Brandt, R.S. (1988). *Dimensions of Thinking: A Framework for Curriculum and Instruction*, Alexandria, Va.: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- 2. Feline Reactions to Bearded Men can be viewed at http://www.improbable.com/airchives/classical/cat/cat.html
- 3. Inquiry-based learning is a process where students formulate investigative questions, obtain factual information, and then build knowledge that ultimately reflects their answer to the original question.(from Jakes, Pennington & Knodle, 2000).
- 4. Essential questions frame the research. They require students to make decisions or plan a course of action e.g. "What plan can I develop for reducing the chance I will contract cancer in my lifetime?" Foundation questions and their answers provide factual information used to build the answer to the essential question e.g. What is cancer?//What are the strategies to be used to prevent cancer? (from Jakes, Pennington & Knodle, 2000)

References

Dodge, B (1995-1997) "Some Thoughts About Webquests." Available: http://edweb.sdsu.edu/courses/edtec596/about webquests.html.

Dodge, B. (2000). "The WebQuest Page." Available: http://edweb.sdsu.edu/webquest/webquest.html.

Jakes, D.S., Pennington, M.E., Knodle, H.A. (2000) "Using the Internet to Promote Inquiry-based Learning." Available: http://www.biopoint.com/inquiry/ibr.html.

Kasper, L.F (1999) "Defining Literacy in the Age of Information: Implications for the ESL Classroom." Available: http://leahi.kcc.hawaii.edu/org/tcon99/papers/kasper.html.

Kasper, L. F. (2000) "New technologies, new literacies: Focus discipline research and ESL learning communities." *Language Learning & Technology*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 105-128, http://llt.msu.edu/vol4num2/kasper/default.html.

March, T. (1998) "Webquests for Learning." Available: http://www.ozline.com/webquests/intro.html.

Marzano, R.J., Brandt, R.S., Hughes, C.S., Jones, B.F., Presseise, B.Z., Rankin, S.C., Suhor, C. (1998) *Dimensions of Thinking. A Framework for Curriculum and Instruction.* Alexandria, Va.: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

Mather, P. (1996) "World Wide Web: Beyond the basics" (Chapter 6). Available: http://ei.cs.vt.edu/~wwwbtb/book/chap6/critical.html.

Shetzer, H., Warschauer, M. (2000) (in press). "An electronic literacy approach to network-based language teaching." In M. Warschauer & R. Kern (Eds.), *Network-based language teaching: Concepts and practice*. New York: Cambridge University Press, 171-175.

Warschauer, M. (2000) "The Changing Global Economy and the Future of English Teaching." Available: http://www.gse.uci.edu/markw/global.html.

Appendix A: WebProject Syllabus and Assignment Types.

Number of meetings devoted*	Class content	Assignments
1	Introduction to the course. Typing skills. The basics of word processing. File management. <i>Compuspeech</i> : defining basic computer terms	Making an exact copy of a document using a combination of various font types, sizes and colours, lists and tables. Students save it to a floppy.
1	Email skills – using identities, setting an email account, attaching and sending files.	Students are to introduce themselves to the teacher via email.
1	The basics of the Internet: navigating the WWW. Locating information on a computer screen – guided treasure hunts (with hyperlinks to particular web sites)	
2	Accessing the WWW with an URL and understanding its components. Using search engines and directories. Narrowing searches (Boolean logic).	Reviewing three search engines and emailing the text to the teacher
1	Performing simultaneous searches. Internet treasure hunts	
1 - 2	Evaluating web resources.	Writing reviews of various websites.
2	Adapting Internet materials. Copying text and images. Copyright on the Web. Citing and summarizing Internet resources	Performing mini-research. Students make a bibliography of sources on a given topic e.g. Recent floods in Britain.
1	Creating Web bibliographies – a scavenger hunt	
2	Web-based research work – all the previous classes combined. Strategies for writing a research paper. Questioning strategies: essential and foundation questions in practice.	
1	Strategies to avoid plagiarism in research work: from theory to practice.	Using obligatory references in a short essay.

1	Distribution of webquests. Discussion of final presentation requirements. Hints and tips for giving oral presentations.	
2-3	Creating slide shows in Power Point	Creating a multimedia scrapbook devoted to students' interests or current affairs.
1	Magazines and newspapers online: understanding the language of the news	Writing a fictitious news item.
1	Word up! – exploring word meanings and origins using online resources	Using online dictionaries of various types to compile mini glossaries of interesting words and phrases.
1	Using corpora in language studies.	Checking and correcting an essay, with focus on collocations.
1 - 2	Evaluating web resources.	Writing reviews of various websites.
3-4	Presentations performed by students	
1	Vocabulary activities based on students' presentations. Overview of students' written assignments. Some comments on academic writing.	
1	Summary to the course. Final questionnaire.	

^{*} A meeting is a 90-minute session. The number of meetings may vary depending on students' needs, interests and computer literacy. The average number of meetings per semester is usually 14..

Appendix B: Sample WebProject Tasksheet.

The Language of the News

Your task for today:

I Visit the newsrooms and newspapers listed below. Choose one of the listed categories and find out what makes today's top news stories all over the world .

Take notes – you'll have to report your story back to the group. Be sure to include the main ideas and express them using your own words.

Categories:

- World news
- Business news
- Sports news
- Entertainment news
- Health/ science news

News can be found at: http://www.reuters.com, http://www.reuters.com, http://www.reuters.com, http://www.reuters.com, http://www.reuters.com, http://www.reuters.com, www.mirror.co.uk, www.mirror.co.uk, http://www.mirror.co.uk, http://www.mirror.co.uk, http://www.mirror.co.uk, http://www.mirror.co.uk, www.mirror.co.uk, www.mirror.co.uk, www.mirror.co.uk, www.mirror.co.uk

II Work in groups: What makes the language of the news so specific?

2
3
4
5
III Write 5 new words you have spotted/ learned today. Use them in context, give definitions and send to your teacher.
e.g.: Crash jet was on wrong <u>runway</u> (headline) – runway is a landing strip, a long flat piece of land from which a plane can take off.
IV Find out the following information:
What publicly owned news and information company was established in London in 1851?

Your homework:

In a minute you will be given a headline e.g. British PM to resign.

Write a matching news item of about 350 words. Remember to follow all the rules we have discussed today.

INTERNET LESSON PLANS

CHRISTMAS UNKNOWN

by Miroslawa Podgorska

III LO,

Zamosc, Poland

marmil@interia.pl

Level: Intermediate and above

Time: 90 minutes

Aims:

- 1. To revise vocabulary related to Christmas
- 2. To introduce vocabulary associated with symbols of Christmas (plants)
- 3. To find out about ways of celebrating Christmas in different parts of the world

<u>Technical requirements:</u> One computer per a group of 2-3 students, with the Internet connection.

Knowledge: Students should be skilled at typing the URLs and using search engines

Procedure:

Pre-stage (offline)

- 1. Teacher asks students if they like Christmas and tells them to justify their answers.
- 2. Teacher asks students to mention all the symbols of Christmas they remember and explain what they represent (they'll probably mention the star, tree, mistletoe, carols, turkey, etc).
- 3. Teacher asks if they know any other plants (apart from the mistletoe) that are considered to symbolise something associated with Christmas (they probably don't know)

While-stage (online)

4. Teacher writes the names of other Christmas plants like 'ivy', 'laurel', 'rosemary', 'holly' and 'poinsettia'. Students are asked to use a search engine to find pictures of the above mentioned plants. To make it faster you can suggest some URLs, like www.800florals.com/category.asp?category=ch (for pictures of poinsettia).

5. When students have found the flowers, they are asked to think about the meanings of such symbols, they can speculate for a couple of minutes, then the teacher asks them to enter http://www.christmas.com/ and find out what the symbols stand for.

mistletoe: love and health

ivy: eternal life

laurel: triumph of Humanity

rosemary: protects from evil spirits

holly: peace and joy

poinsettia: flower of the Holy Night

Variation: If time allows, the teacher may ask students to use Paintbrush and draw colourful pictures of the plants, then copy them to a Word document and prepare a short description with gaps to be completed by other students. If it's possible the teacher prints the sheets and distributes them to groups as a kind of a vocabulary exercise.

6. The teacher asks students whether they know how Christmas is celebrated in other parts of the world (outside Europe). If they don't know they are asked to go to http://www.christmas.com/ again and find information necessary to complete the table.

	Climate	Christmas meal	Other customs
Africa (Zimbabwe, Nigeria or Ghana)			
Australia			
South America (Brazil)			
One European country of Your choice			

Post-stage

- 7. Students are asked to report back, they share the information they've found, the teacher asks comprehension questions, students justify their choices.
- 8. The teacher asks students to write a short passage describing the holidays of their dreams (they can choose the country, customs etc.)

GOING ON HOLIDAY

by Jarek Krajka

Maria Curie-Sklodowska University,

Lublin, Poland

jkrajka@batory.plo.lublin.pl

PART ONE

Objectives:

- to practise searching for specific information on the Web
- to practise reading for details and extracting information
- to revise vocabulary concerning travel and holiday
- to practise word-processing skills

Time: two 45-minute periods

Resources used: computers, Internet websites, word-processor

Sample websites:

Hotels: http://www.hotelbook.com/, http://www.hotelbook.com/, http://www.hotelseservationnetworks.com/, http://www.hotelguide.com/html/main site.cfm?CFID=4846115&CFTOKEN=87694466;

Flights: http://book2.flybmi.com/, http://www.travelocity.com/, http://www.travel

Planning a trip: http://travel.yahoo.com/.

Possible problems:

- Some popular sites (such as travel.yahoo.com or www.travelocity.com) may be overloaded and consequently it may take a long time to access them, so teachers with a slower connection lab should again try to make an Internet search for given places before class or find travel sites which load faster.
- The teacher should make sure students do not choose the same place or places to research, as otherwise Part Two of the lesson will not be that interesting.

Before you start

The teacher ought to try to find leaflets of holiday trips to some exotic destinations. These should have pictures, information about hotels, travel to the place, leisure time activities. It is

important to have at least one leaflet per group of students, as they will constitute a model during the activity.

Procedure

- 1. The teacher refers to the idea of adventure and ask students whether they like adventurous trips and whether they would be ready to go on such a holiday trip. Students should think about a dream holiday destination and say why they would like to go to that particular place.
- 2. The teacher makes the review of vocabulary connected with travel and holiday: give each pair of students a topic area, such as travelling, accommodation, spending free time, holiday dangers, attractions, and ask them to come up with as many words as they can. The list, together with native language equivalents, should be written in a word-processor.
- 3. The teacher collects lists from all students, puts them together and uploads on a class website (by saving a word-processor document as .html file) or prints out a complete list for each pair of students. The whole class should go through these expressions to check that they understand them.
- 4. The teacher should distribute holiday leaflets and ask students to read them carefully. The whole class ought to come up with the most important pieces of information included in the leaflets: photos, descriptions of hotels, way of travelling to the place, leisure time activities, price, contact information, etc. These headings should be written up on the blackboard so that students could see them during the subsequent part of the lesson.
- 5. The teacher asks pairs of students to decide on one dream holiday destination, search the Web for pictures and information on it to produce a holiday brochure in a word-processor. Students should choose a certain place, go to a search engine, type in a word, browse through results, extract relevant pieces of information. The teacher should control and help students if they are lost. A good idea here would be to ask students to make a design of the leaflet, and if there are as many computers as students, one person from a pair could search the Web for information while the other could be working in a word-processor on the physical layout of the leaflet.
- 6. Once students have the information required, they create a holiday brochure, describing a dream weekend in a marvellous holiday destination, planning the accommodation, flights, evening entertainment. It is advisable to incorporate pictures of the places, as well as use colours for background and fonts to make the leaflet more appealing.
- 7. It is extremely important that students should include links to websites relating to their destination on the leaflet, as this is how others will be able to do that trip in the next class.
- 8. If the class runs short of time, students could work on the word-processing of the leaflet at home or in a self-access school lab.

PART TWO

Objectives:

- to practise reading skills
- to develop speaking skills talking about advantages and disadvantages of a chosen holiday trip
- to learn how to write an informal letter
- to write and send a letter to a keypal

Time: two/three 45-minute periods

Resources used: Computers, Internet websites, word-processor, email programme

Possible problems:

The letters written in Stage 5 may take up a lot of space if students insert too many pictures. Consequently, it may take long to send them and receive by email. Thus, the teacher should make sure students do not insert more than one-two images to their letters.

Before the lesson:

- The teacher should collect all holiday brochures students made in Part One and upload them to a class website. When doing that, each leaflet cannot take more than one screen in order to prevent scrolling up and down the page, so picture size and font size should be manipulated with.
- Students should have email accounts and know how to use them.

Procedure

- 1. Students are pointed to the class website with holiday brochures they created. They are asked to read all in pairs and decide on one destination. Then the teacher should ask some students which holiday they have chosen and why.
- 2. Students are allowed to go on a chosen holiday, that is follow the links included in the brochures, browse through websites given, explore the place of their choice. They should find out the information needed to describe the holiday to a friend in a letter.
- 3. The teacher draws students' attention to a sample letter to a friend. They are reminded what to write in each paragraph, how they should open and close the letter, what linking words they should use to make their letter coherent.
- 4. Students are asked to come up with the questions about holidays they feel can be useful in their letters. They should answer these questions with the information from their trip to make a basis for writing.
- 5. Now students should work in pairs or individually and write a letter to a friend in a word-processor. The letter should have a proper layout. Students can insert some pictures from the Web to illustrate their writing. They are reminded to make use of Web dictionaries, both bilingual and monolingual, as well as of the spell-checking feature of the word-processor. The teacher makes sure they save their letters to disc.
- 6. Once the letters are written, students should log into their email accounts, attach a letter they wrote in a word-processor to an email message and send it to all other students in the

class as well as the teacher. They are reminded them to give the subject of the message (e.g., a letter to a friend), as well as provided with a short description of what can be found in the attachment (virus protection measures, opening only those attachments which you expect and you know are safe).

7. Students should open the attachments, read the letters, choose one and write a reply to it, commenting on the holiday described and describing their own trip.

A WORD FROM A TECHIE

CREATE AN ENGLISH LETTER WRITING SECRETARY

by Guo Shesen

Luoyang University,

Henan, P.R China

guoshesen@21cn.com

Introduction

Working at Luoyang University in China, we have a course called "English letter writing" for the students of English Department and other departments. As more and more foreign businesses enter the country and the English language plays the most important role in the international trade, publishers of textbooks have to add in more and more different kinds of sample letters, especially business letters, and instructions to writing them to meet the increasing need. However, it might happen that students do not feel that they have learnt a great deal of letter writing. On the contrary, they say they have to remember various words or styles for corresponding kinds of letters, which makes them confused and tired. On the other hand, the English teachers have to prepare a lot before class and cannot finish the planned content at class due to the increased quantity and length of sample letters and the need to repeat the rules of letter styles and patterns. Whenever letter writing is assigned at class, the students' response is immediate and unequivocal. "We have to write about what?" Mutter, grumble, snort, rip and silence as they struggle to begin.

INI files – what are they?

To free students of the difficulty and the teachers from overburden we may employ computers to make letter writing easier and faster. One solution to tackle the problem might be using the most common file in the Windows system – INI files.

Almost every major Windows application includes an INI file, yet most developers rarely use them in their own programs. INI files are extremely useful for storing window size and position, user preferences, and other information that should be preserved between sessions of program use. A quick glance at the \WINDOWS directory of any computer will prove how widespread their use is. Some programs even use more than one INI file. Personally, I like INI files to store information rather than registry or database as they are easier to work with if you don't have to demand high level of security. And, as this article will show, INI files are very simple to implement into the application to build the English letter writing secretary.

Don't be afraid of INI files. If you do not have much knowledge about your system, you'd better not change/delete values in such already existing important system INI files as win.ini, Ios.ini, and system.ini. Generally, INI files, simple text files, are named for their common

three-letter file extension, which is short for initialization. Each INI file is divided into sections, easily recognizable because the section title is enclosed in brackets (e.g. [Boot]). Within each section are a number of statements. Each statement begins with a variable or "identifier," followed by its value (e.g. color=2). Two of the best-known INI files are WIN.INI and SYSTEM.INI, both used to store important parameters for the Windows operating system.

Below is a section from a system.ini, storing the information of VGA.

```
[S3765PCIVGAs] // section title

VirtualScreen=Off // identifier=value

Screen=640X480 // identifier=value

CursorColorRGB=255,255,255 // identifier=value

ChromaKeyRGB=255,0,255 // identifier=value

RefreshRate=60,72,60,60,48 // identifier=value

CursorSize=0 // identifier=value

.....
```

Creating and Storing Letter Information

1. The Heading and the Inside Address

This part mainly includes the information of both addressee and addressor such as name; title; organization; street; telephone number; country; email address, etc. The advantage of the digital secretary is that it can dynamically manage and update the information with a flip and in no time if we know how to create INI files. Suppose you are going to write to me. The written section in the INI file may look like this:

```
[Guo Shesen] //section title
address=No.1 Daxue Road, Henan //identifier=value
email=guoshesen@21cn.com //identifier=value
country=China //identifier=value
organization=Office of English Dept, Luoyang University //identifier=value
```

As mentioned above, INI files are simple text files, which mean we can use any text editors such as Notepad or other simple editors to create them. Just start a text editor and insert the above section line by line and save it in any extensions. Or we can create the INI files through RAD tools such as VB, Delphi or Visual C++. The important thing is that we can create other sections and identifiers and values in the same INI file. So, if you want to add a new recipient and store his/her information in the same INI file, just input section titles and their identifiers and values as demonstrated above, or use writestring method. For example (in Delphi):

```
INI.writestring('John','address','No.2 ABC Road, City');
INI.writestring('John','email','email:nospam@noad.com');
INI.writestring('John','postal','Postal Code 123456');
```

After the above writestring operation in RAD environment, the relevant information will be written in the INI file created. We may find the following information written in the created INI file (any text editors can open INI files):

```
[Guo Shesen]
address=No.1 Daxue Road, Henan
email=guoshesen@21cn.com
country=China
organization=Office of English Dept, Luoyang University
[John]
address=No.2 ABC Road, City
email=email: nospam@nospam.com
postal=Postal Code 123456
```

If we want to read the sections and values of the INI file into a text editor, use the method Readstring or Readsection in sources: (Suppose the name of a text editor in sources is happyeditor – you may give the component any name.)

```
happyeditor.lines[1].text:=INI.readstring('John','address',");
happyeditor.lines[2].text:=INI.readstring('John','email',");
happyeditor.lines[3].text:=INI.readstring('John','postal',");
```

After compiling, the user interface editor (the happyeditor) from this executable will show:

```
(line 1) No.2 ABC Road, City
(line 2) email: nospam@nospam.com
(line 3) Postal Code 123456
```

If you update or modify the information, call the method again without changing section and identifier. For example:

```
INI.writestring('John','address','No.1000 ABC Road, City');
INI.writestring('John','email','email:write@digital.com');
```

INI.writestring('John','postal','Postal Code 100000');

INI.writestring('John','fax','Fax: 123-123456');

Interesting? Whenever we send a letter to a new recipient, just writestring to create and store the information, and if we want to load the stored information into a text editor, readstring. The trick is that by using only one INI file we can merge separate information into one file. Let's look at the next step.

2. The Body

Generally we divide English letters into family letters, social letters and business letters, with each kind subdivided. While creating the secretary application I do not consider it necessary and practical to include all these hundreds of letters in the same version, as all kinds of letters are equally important when they are used on different occasions. However, for students I feel the most needed and urgent will be letters of application – such as those in jobhunting and follow-up letters. They are the way of communicating with the society and finding a prospective employer. Thus, they have great influence on students' career. Even only making this kind of templates, the number of letter is large. I arrange the letters in the order of the frequency of use: a letter of application, a letter of inquiry, a letter thanking for the interview, a letter thanking for the job offer, a letter of acceptance. This arranged order of letters and application steps are commonly accepted by most people and are easily located by users.

If you think social letters are important, include them in the INI file. However, as the number of letters is large, we suggest including them in different versions of the application or different INI files of the same application.

On the basis of the above examples of creating INI files, we may input the following information into a text editor such as Notepad:

[Letter of Application] {section}

I am writing in reference to your advertisement for a staff consultant as listed in the Engineering Career Services Office at Iowa State University. I will be graduating in May 20_with a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering, and I believe my qualifications to be consistent with those desired by your firm.*****Throughout my collegiate career, I have stayed well-rounded by combining my academics with leadership and work experience. By majoring in Electrical Engineering, I have been exposed to all facets of scientific and analytic disciplines from mathematics to circuit analysis. My co-op experience with IBM in Boca Raton, Florida, allowed me to gain practical experience in the field of electronic circuit logic and driver design. I have also held several leadership positions, which have enhanced my communications and management skills.*****Enclosed is a resume that will give you greater detail regarding my education, work experiences and activities. If you have any questions regarding my qualifications, please call me at 515-296-0000. Thank you for your time and consideration.=

{skip a line here}

[Letter of Inquiry]

I am seeking a full-time position as a mechanical engineer with interest in working in a manufacturing environment. I will receive a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from Iowa State University in...=

```
{skip a line here}
[Thanks for the Interview]
...=
{skip a line here}
[Thanks for the Job Offer
{skip a line here}
[Letter of Acceptance]
...=
{skip a line here}
[Declining a Job Offer]
{skip a line here}
[Follow Up After Interview]
{skip a line here}
[Other follow-ups]
```

Teachers may collect the letters anywhere or input sample letters from the textbook, they could even store broken or misspelled sentences for students to complete or correct. The use of the English letter writing secretary depends on the concrete objectives or practice methods.

Pay attention to asterisks (***) in the INI file. I add them for the paragraph marker as the value of an identifier in a section which is not formatted. Using the method readsection and readstring in sources of RAD environment as mentioned above, we can read the relevant information (identifiers and their values) into the happyeditor (in RAD environment an editor can be given any names). After compiling the source into an executable, the editor in RAD tools will be the user interface editor with functions. Notepad is an editor; UltraEdit is an editor; Ms Word is another editor. There are thousands of computer text editors with thousands of different names and functions. This is because there is a class named Tedit/Tmemo in RAD tools, we can create as many customized editor as we like. We can replace ***** with Carriage Return plus Line Feed (Chr(13)+Chr(10)).

Similarly, we can store information of the complimentary close and signature line in the INI file.

For reference, the full INI file of the digital secretary can be downloaded at http://guoshesen.51.net/download/inidemo.zip. Unzip inidemo.zip and open the file with any text editors.

Merging of the Two Parts

With the framework constructed above the digital secretary is ready to write. Place a command button and just enter several lines of readstring with parameters to load the separate information of addressee, addressor, the body of a letter, and complimentary close or signature into a text editor. You will read a full and complete letter.

```
letter: string;
INI.readsection('Letter of Inquiry',letter);
editor.lines[1].text:=INI.readstring('John','address','');
editor.lines[2].text:=INI.readstring('John','email','');
editor.lines[3].text:=INI.readstring('John','postal','');
...{other heading or inside address}
editor.lines.add(''); // skip a line
editor.lines.add(datetostr(date));// add date
editor.lines.add('');//skip a line
editor.lines.add('');//skip a line
editor.lines.add('');//skip a line
```

The output in the user interface editor will be the following:

```
No.2 ABC Road, City
email: nospam@nospam.com

Postal Code 123456
....{Other heading or inside address}

{skip a line here}

{add current date here}

{skip a line again here}
```

Dear:

{skip a line}

I am seeking a full-time position as a mechanical engineer with interest in working in a manufacturing environment. I will receive a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from Iowa State University in...

The purpose of this article is not to give a detailed instruction on how to build the secretary but rather outline the idea and the method to put it into practice. The key function is inputting information only once, and we can write to as many recipients as we like and their information is stored in the INI file. Whenever we want to write to persons previously written to, we may immediately locate his/her information which will be automatically provided on the screen. Of course, we can rename and delete any of the existing information. The use of the function saves us a lot of time and energy and it lays the foundations for efficiency in teaching and learning letter writing.

Secondly, the letters in the INI files actually play the role of templates just as in a word processing application, however, the difference is that you rewrite the templates directly in the program. And the limited kind and number of templates available may not satisfy our requirement. By creating our own INI files and embedding customized and personalized letters in them we can provide students or teachers with rich and suitable examples. The advantage of a single file of course simplifies the building of the program and facilitates the control of data though not so powerful. Any text editor can open the INI files, which can also facilitate the making process.

When dealing with English letters we are sure to discuss the letter layout such as punctuation patterns or letter styles (full block, modified block or semi-block) or lines spaced and etc. To make the letter styles easily remembered and flexibly modified, it is advisable that the templates be all output automatically in full block form and properly spaced between relevant parts (inside address, salutation...). With the help of editing, we can directly make the modifications or revisions on the basis of the template letters with the information of addressee and addresser.

Different Letters

Jobhunting letters account for only a small portion of English letters. How about other kinds of letters? We may solve the problem by simply replacing or modifying the INI file which can be easily done by teachers or students themselves. Execute "Copy" command to replace the previous kind of the letter, so that the secretary meets all and particular requirements of various kinds of letters needed by the writer.

In order to provide the examples and support the article, I have built a fully functional digital secretary, free and downloadable at: http://guoshesen.51.net/download/letwr.zip. All readers are welcome to download the program and provide the author with suggestions and comments.

SOFTWARE

VIRTUAL REALITY MODELING LANGUAGE

by Hee-Jung Jung

Washington State University, USA

hjung@mail.wsu.edu

The theme for VRML for today is islands. The narrative voice and visual setting explains the situation that participants (ESL students) in shipwreck arrive on a deserted island. To survive over there, they should build a new community, design their environment and set up the rules by which they will live. Students select their own identities (objects) that represent themselves. They communicate in English with voice chat or text chat: how and who will get the water and woods, hunt for food, cook, etc. During the discussion, they can express their emotions by using face icons such as smile, anger, or cry and they can dance, bow, and walk. They can write rules, send rescue letters, or whisper with others.

Description

Virtual Reality Modeling Language (VRML) is a standard language for three-dimensional objects, or scenes delivered across the Internet. A VRML file is a regular text file that describes a virtual model using a standardized syntax and is being viewed interactively through the use of a VRML plug-in application available for all common Web browsers such as Internet Explorer or Netscape with high RAM and fast operating system and Internet connections (Cromby, Standen, & Brown, 1995).

When clicking a VRML file on the Web, the file is downloaded on the user's computer and the plug-in is activated so that it displays an initial view of the virtual model on the computer's monitor. The plug-in provides standard navigational and communication tools such as walking, flying, dancing, or showing facial expressions (Durlach, & Mavor, 1995). Navigation as well as interactions are usually controlled via the mouse input device. It can also allow for interaction and manipulation of the objects or scenes and examination of them from all viewpoints (Bricken, 1991). VRML models can be animated and allow for the user to create an avatar or symbolic representation of him/herself. With functionality and dynamic behavior, students can control interactions in a 3D space to share virtual models and collaborate with remote users.

Background

VRML was created in 1994 by Mark Pesce, Anthony Parisi, and Gavin Bell. They designed the specifications for the first 3D Modeling language (Johnson, Moher, Ohlsson, & Gillingham, 1999). VRML had to be platform independent to be implemented on the Internet. Also, the language had to be able to place objects in 3-D space, as well as include attributes such as shape, color, and size. VRML 1.0 was introduced in May 1995. A more clarified

version, VRML 1.0c, was issued in January 1996. Now, VRML 2, called "Moving Worlds", is used.

The major differences that VRML 2.0 has are that it is more interactive and more realistic than VRML 1.0. VRML 1.0 had static worlds that are no interaction, and no movement. With VRML 2.0, instead of just looking at an unexciting house, users can see the windows flutter, the doors open, cars entering and exiting the garage with music. Also, users can do some behaviors like opening the door, using an elevator, or flying through space (Cromby et al., 1995).

Current Application

With real-time interactive control and a user-centered perspective, this technology, especially VR, is actively being used in health care to visualize surgical processes, in architecture to visualize large- and small-scale design processes, and in training air forces by visualizing virtual air fights. For example, surgical training is largely a matter of close supervision on the apprenticeship model (Burns & Gentry, 1998). There is a growing requirement in training to practise techniques and operations in a way which does not put patients at any risk and one way this can be done is using virtual reality modeling of the procedure.

VRML is relatively new in education. However, there may be significant potential for VR applications to assist in alerting young students to some of the more disturbing aspects of today's society. With this technology, young students can visit places that would otherwise be impossible, impractical or too dangerous (Crookall, 1990). For example, with VR applications, users can experience crossing the road, escaping from fire, burglaries, accidents and so on to primary and secondary school children.

Currently, we can find many sites that helping users picking a free browser, visiting virtual communities, building our own worlds, sharing with other users, and developing curriculums with VRML. For example, *VRML* at the Teacher's Resource Bank (http://3dgraphics.about.com/gi/dynamic/offsite.htm?site=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.teacherresourcebank.com%2FVRML%2F) provides many resources for teachers that want to use VRML in the classroom with teacher training and lesson plans/classroom activities. *VRML* works (http://hiwaay.net/~crispen/vrml/) explains how to view and build 3D virtual world in detail. The VRML Repository (http://www.web3d.org/vrml/vrml.htm) contains software, sample worlds, documentation and links to projects and worlds. Also The VRML Repository tutorials (http://www.web3d.org/vrml/tutv.htm) provide specific instructions with each example of 3D virtual worlds.

Because 3D virtual worlds are relatively new, there has been little research about effectiveness of educational use, especially, of language learning. Most research to date has tended to focus on the technical aspects of design. It is likely that many or most schools would presently not be equipped with the hardware to be able to make use of VRML to complement instruction. At the same time, the majority of VRML sites are not designed for educational purposes, rather for entertainment such as video games.

The future educational use of VRML can involve simulations such as interactions of chemicals, growth of cells or crystals, 3D representation of worlds in space or underwater. VRML also presents the possibility of collaborative spaces for student interaction, seminars,

tutorials and informal gatherings that might be provided by virtual classrooms and universities (Johnson et al., 1999).

VRML in Language Learning

Richards and Rodgers (1986) examine three theoretical views of language: structural, functional and interactional. VRML follows from the interactional view, where language is seen as a vehicle for the realization of interpersonal relations and for the performance of social transactions between individuals. For example, before being in interview to get a part-time job, ESL students can be in an interview setting for a native employer in VRML. ESL students answer the possible question in the similar settings, so they can have confidence and practice before they are in the real setting.

Many ESL students learn the language exclusively from textbook explanations and examples. But with the increasing availability of computers and the Internet in classrooms, VRML will be a viable supplement to traditional textbook instruction. ESL students will learn languages more interactively in less time without embarrassment. VRML may provide a less formal experience than real worlds, but it is entertaining and certainly more realistic than mere pictures and dialogues in an English textbook. As learners begin to work, study and communicate in VRML, they may learn not only the target language, but new ways of thinking and structuring information (Cromby et al., 1995).

The customization and interactivity may permit users to shape their interpersonal and collaborative electronic experiences. For example, if one ESL student is puzzled by an observation or fails to understand the meaning of a mutually shared video stream that they have been watching together, they will find it very natural to ask questions of others who share the same virtual world at that time. This meaningful interaction motivates learners to learn interpersonal skills as well as their target language naturally. In no other way can teachers provide learners with more authentic language without communicating with the native speakers of the target language. However, with VRML, at a relatively little expense, and 24 hours a day, learners can be in contact with native speakers from a tremendous variety of cultural and linguistic backgrounds. While textbooks do the important job of providing lists of vocabulary and outlines of grammar, VRML help ESL learners to internalize language structure within the broader contexts of dialogue and culture.

Gains/Loses for Language Learners

Scarcella and Crookall (1990) review research to show how VRML facilitates second language acquisition. Three learning theories which they discuss are that learners acquire language when: (1) they are exposed to large quantities of comprehensible input, (2) they are actively involved, and (3) they have positive environments such as desires, feelings and attitudes. Comprehensible input is provided in VRML because students engage in genuine communication in playing their roles. Active involvement stems from participation in worthwhile, absorbing interaction that tends to make students forget they are learning a new language. Students have the opportunity to try out new behaviors in a safe environment, which helps them develop long-term motivation to master an additional language (Scarcella & Crookall, 1990). Apart from encouraging genuine communication with target language, active involvement, and a positive attitude, the simulated real life problems help students develop their critical thinking and problem solving skills with other participants.

VRML language learning overcomes time and space limits and gives learners the sense of their presence. Students are given control over critical elements of the environment. They are able to manipulate the environment such as languages, place, and time variables. They can freely play with any situation and they can run the simulations as many times as they wish, taking time to focus on different side of the simulation each time (Christopher & Smith, 1990).

VRML is extremely cost effective since the required networked computers exist in urban or suburban areas and the viewing software such as VRML plug-in, is available to everyone for free. Anybody who has the Internet access can download from the Net. However, today's limitations are dictated by network capabilities due to download times for large VRML files describing complex virtual models and the speed of the user's local computer that is responsible for real-time rendering and interactions (Johnson et al., 1999). It limits the real-time transmission of data in sufficient quantity, making it difficult to include motion video and audio of sufficient fidelity to make them useful for language learning applications. The traditional HTML model of static page display with hypertext branching is limited in its ability to provide such simple interactions as answer judging as we often see in interactive materials today (Singhal & Zada, 1999). The current development trend towards high capacity networks and more powerful desktop and laptop computers with 3D graphics acceleration will remove these limitations gradually in the near future.

Another important thing that we should consider is the socioeconomic gap. According to Pastore (2000), the biggest gap in Internet adoption rates in the US exists between the rich and the poor, not between ethnic groups. He points out that ethnic background alone does not explain the existence of a digital gap. Although a combination of factors determines if a consumer is online, income is the strongest predictor. Across all groups, online penetration rises as income rises.

VRML are much less expensive than VR. However, there are still many students and school districts that do not have sufficient equipment, and use slow modem networking . Thus, the financial situation of school districts may be critical to provide the rich learning environment with VR or VRML. Naturally, the rich districts will provide better chances for students to learn their target languages or other learning with VRML. Furthermore, there will be private VR institutes that may provide extra opportunities to learn after school. It may cause economic gaps between students depending on parents' wealth. Students who have rich parents or are in the rich districts may learn the target language faster and eventually facilitate school learning with better access to the VR.

Additionally, the quality of VRML is not really effective. For example, Active World (http://www.activeworlds.com/) has the limits and lack of user control over avatars. Users were limited to selecting an avatar from a predefined library. Avatar is difficult for ESL students or teachers to create and require knowledge of 3D modeling as well as the appropriate software. The premade avatars represent young western Caucasians. Also, there were more males with a greater variety of age and body types than females. These limitations perpetuate values that may not correspond with those of the user.

While the lack of user control over avatars was seen as problematic there were other aspects of representation where the user maintained a great deal of control. Users could choose their own unique names and control over the amount of information they wished to reveal, including whether to make their presence in a world known to others. Users also had the

option of whispering and sending telegrams, and muting other users. The availability of unique names does aid in the development of communities because it aids in both creating trust and accountability among users (Stone, 1997).

Lastly, although the conversational pace with text chat is slow compared to a face-to-face conversation, this gives learners a little time to think through what they want to say because it is fast in terms of typing. If ESL students don't have enough typing skills in English, it is difficult for them to concentrate in English while their fingers continually make spelling mistakes. Also, even though ESL students need to see authentic language, the communication in VRML will include mistakes in grammar and form, bad typing skills, and informal conversation of other users that can hinder the learning process and frustrate the learner who need to learn formal academic language.

Summary

The medium of virtual reality represents one step closer to a social world where the lines between the symbolic and the real are merged. Currently VR is extremely expensive, VRML or other web-based VR applications are very portable for everyone. Through a careful analysis, the problems of virtual environments may be anticipated and perhaps prevented. Educators and researchers should try to identify and address potentially harmful side effects related to the use of VR technology. VRML cannot replace experiences with native speakers of target language. It cannot infuse a student into a real environment that has all the culture and feeling the real location and people has. What VRML can do is create experiences that help students understand places, people, language and processes better. Therefore, we can use virtual reality to learn the target language to enhance our real social lives and understand others better.

References

Brammer, M., Sawyer-Laucanno, C. S. (1990) *Business and industry: specific purposes of language training*. New York: Newbury House.

Bricken, M. (1991) "Virtual Reality Learning Environments: Potentials and Challenges." *Computer Graphics* 25 (3), 178-184.

Burns, A. C., Gentry, J. W. (1998) "Motivating students to engage in experiential learning: a tension-to-learn theory." *Simulation and Gaming*, 29, 133-151.

Carpenter, J., Huston, C., Holt, W. (1986) "Modification of preschool sex-typed behaviors by participation in adult-structured activities." *Sex Roles*, 14, 603-615.

Christopher, E. M., Smith, L. E. (1990) *Shaping the content of simulation/games. gaming, and language learning.* New York, NY: Newbury House.

Cromby, J., Standen, P., Brown, D. (1995) "Using Virtual Environments in Special Education." *VR in the Schools*, 1 (3), 1-4.

Crookall, D. (1990) *International relations: specific purpose language training.* New York, NY: Newbury House.

Durlach, N., Mavor, A. (eds.) (1995) *Virtual reality: Scientific and technological changes*. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.

Johnson, A., Moher, T., Ohlsson, S., Gillingham, M. (1999) "The Round Earth Project: Collaborative VR for Conceptual Learning." *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, 19 (6), 60-69.

Pastore, M (2000) "Digital divide more economic than ethnic." *INT Media Group*. Available: http://cyberatlas.internet.com/big-picture/demographics/article/0,1323,5901 395581,00.html

Rheingold, H. (1991) Virtual Reality. New York, NY: Summit.

Richards, J., Rodgers, T. (1986) *Approaches and methods in language teaching: A description and analysis*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Scarcella, R., Crookall, D. (1990) "Simulation/Gaming and language acquisition." In D. Crookall, R.L. Oxford (eds.), *Simulation, Gaming and language learning*. New York: Newbury Home.

Singhal, S., Zyda, M. (1999) *Networked Virtual Environments: Design and Implementation*. NY: ACM Press.

Winn, W. (1993) A Conceptual Basis for Educational Applications of Virtual Reality. Technical Report TR-93-9, Human Interface Technology Laboratory - University of Washington.

ANNOUNCEMENTS OF FUTURE EVENTS

TEACHING ONLINE IN HIGHER EDUCATION: EXPANDING THE FRONTIERS

November 12-14, 2002

http://www.ipfw.edu/as/2002tohe/

The focus of the 2002 International Online Conference on Teaching Online in Higher Education is on expanding the frontiers of online education. Each year innovative faculty and staff continue to push the frontier of higher education beyond existing practices by creating novel learning experiences for students, adapting state-of-the-art technologies to the learning environment, and building new learning communities.

The 2002 International Online Conference on Teaching Online in Higher Education will be held completely online. Presenters will prepare their presentations in HTML, text, or presentation format and send them to the conference organizers for posting. Presentations will be posted by October 29, 2002 so that participants will have sufficient time to read each presentation before joining the corresponding online discussion with the presenter and other participants. Each presenter will schedule a one hour session on Tuesday, November 12, Wednesday, November 13, or Thursday, November 14 during the hours of 9:00 am and 7:00 pm EST. The sessions will be held in ASMOO, the IPFW Arts and Sciences MOO, which can be used as a chatroom-like environment. Log into ASMOO as a guest before you register for the conference to insure that your computer can connect to it. Visit the 2001, 2000, and 1999 TOHE online conferences to see an example of the format. While the conference chat rooms are now empty, you may view the transcripts of the chat sessions from the conference web site. If you have more questions about the format of the conference, email the conference organizers at tohe@ipfw.edu.

Suggested topics include:

- Instructional Design of Online Courses: Theories of Instructional Design, Student-Centered Instruction, Multimedia, Courseware
- Online Interaction with Students: Chat Rooms, Bulletin Boards, Web Pages, MOOs, Forms
- Faculty Development for Teaching Online: Recruiting, Training, Development Programs, Ongoing Education
- Assessment of Online Courses: Comparison, Qualitative Evaluation, Summative Evaluation, Formative Evaluation
- Online Assessment of Student Learning: Testing Tools, Methods of Assessment, Plagiarism
- Online Student Services and Support: Library, Advising, Tutoring, Writing Centers, Registration/Admissions, Technical, Multicultural, Disabled Students
- Online Academic Programs: Degrees, Certificates, Certifications

If you have more questions about the focus of the conference, email the conference organizers at tohe@ipfw.edu.

Conference Dates: October 29, 2002 - Posting of presentations; November 12-14, 2002 - Interactive discussions with presenters

Registration Deadline: November 1, 2002 (Late registrations will be accepted with a \$10 processing fee); October 1, 2002 for presenters to confirm placement in program

Proposal Submission Deadline: August 12, 2002

Paper Submission Deadline: October 1, 2002

Conference Coordinator:

Ms. Deb Sewards

Instructional Technology Coordinator, School of Arts and Sciences, IPFW

2101 East Coliseum Blvd, Fort Wayne, IN 46805

(260) 481-6654; <u>sewards@ipfw.edu</u>

ETHICOMP 2002

THE TRANSFORMATION OF ORGANISATIONS IN THE INFORMATION AGE:

SOCIAL AND ETHICAL IMPLICATIONS

Universidade Lusiada, Lisbon, Portugal

November 13-15, 2002

http://www.ccsr.cse.dmu.ac.uk/conferences/ethicomp2002/

The ETHICOMP conference series is now recognised as one of the premier international events on computer ethics attended by delegates from all over the world. Conferences are held about every 18 months.

ETHICOMP 2002 is the sixth conference in the series. The conference will be held on 13-14-15 November 2002 at the prestigious Universidade Lusiada in Lisbon, Portugal. The university is the largest private university in Portugal.

Powerful technologies have profound social consequences. Information and communication technology (ICT) is no exception. Organisations within society have reinvented themselves using ICT. Consequently their internal operations and the potential global reach of their

activities have dramatically changed. This is true of all types of organisations including business, government, health, education and social. Such radical change has challenged our legal systems and our social norms. Such change is significant since the modern world cannot operate without organisations. We must consider carefully what impact such changes have on us in general and in the way we interact with organisations.

Therefore, the overall theme of ETHICOMP 2002 is "The Transformation of Organisations in the Information Age: Social and Ethical Implications". The aim is to focus on the social and ethical impact of ICT as the drivers of change within organisations. Papers of an ethical or societal nature within the following areas are particularly welcomed.

Business, commerce, industry, health and education: planning ICT, developing ICT, using ICT, selling and distributing ICT

Government and its agencies: interaction with the general public, regulation and legislation, transparency, local versus global perspectives

Corporate Social Responsibility: lifelong learning, work organisation, equal opportunities, social inclusion, sustainable development, community relationships, environmental concern

Organisational Communication: converging technologies, communication ethics, communication monitoring and control

For further information contact:

Centre for Computing and Social Responsibility

Faculty of Computing Sciences and Engineering, De Montfort University

The Gateway, Leicester LE1 9BH, UK

Telephone +44 116 250 6143. Fax +44 116 254 1891

ccsr@dmu.ac.uk

EDMEDIA 2003:

WORLD CONFERENCE ON EDUCATIONAL MULTIMEDIA, HYPERMEDIA & TELECOMMUNICATIONS

Honolulu, Hawaii, USA

June 23-28, 2003

http://www.aace.org/conf/edmedia/call.htm

ED-MEDIA 2003 - World Conference on Educational Multimedia, Hypermedia & Telecommunications is an international conference, organized by the <u>Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE)</u>. This annual conference serves as a multidisciplinary forum for the discussion and exchange of information on the research, development, and applications on all topics related to multimedia, hypermedia and telecommunications/distance education. ED-MEDIA, the premiere international conference in the field, spans all disciplines and levels of education and annually attracts more than 1,500 leaders in the field from over 70 countries. For a list, see: <u>Countries @ ED-MEDIA</u>.

We invite you to attend ED-MEDIA 2003 and submit proposals for papers, panels, roundtables, tutorials, workshops, posters/demonstrations, corporate showcases/demos, and SIG discussions. The Conference Review Policy requires that each proposal will be peer-reviewed by three reviewers for inclusion in the conference program, proceedings book, and CD-ROM proceedings.

Topics

The scope of the conference includes, but is not limited to, the following major topics as they relate to the educational and developmental aspects of multimedia/hypermedia and telecommunications.

- 1 Infrastructure
- 2. Tools & Content-Oriented Applications
- 3. New Roles of the Instructor & Learner
- 4. Human-Computer Interaction (HCI/CHI)
- 5. Cases & Projects

Proceedings

Accepted papers will be published in the Proceedings (book and CD-ROM formats) as well as in the AACE Digital Library. These proceedings serve as major sources in the multimedia/hypermedia/telecommunications community, reflecting the current state of the art in the discipline. In addition, selected papers may be invited for publication in may be invited for publication in AACE's respected journals especially in the *Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia* (JEMH), *International Journal on E-Learning* (IJEJ), or *Journal of Interactive Learning Research* (JILR). See: www.aace.org/pubs

To request further information and keep informed about ED-MEDIA Conferences, <u>click here</u>. If you have a question about the ED-MEDIA Conference, please send an E-mail to <u>AACE</u> <u>Conference Services</u>, or call 757-623-7588, or fax 703-997-8760.

CALICO 2003 ANNUAL SYMPOSIUM:

COLLABORATIVE CALL

University of Ottawa

Ottawa, Ontario, Canada

May 20-24, 2003

CALICO is a professional organization dedicated to the use of technology in foreign/second language learning and teaching. CALICO's symposia bring together educators, administrators, materials developers, researchers, government representatives, vendors of hardware and software, and others interested in the field of computer-assisted language learning.

Preconference Workshops: Tuesday, May 20 - Wednesday, May 21

Courseware Showcase: Thursday, May 22 (tentative)

Presentation Sessions: Thursday, May 22 - Saturday, May 24

Use CALICO's proposal submission form at http://calico1.modlang.swt.edu or request a text version of the form at info@calico.org.

Deadline for proposals: November 15, 2002.

All presenters must be current members of CALICO and are responsible for their own expenses, including registration fees.

For more information, contact:

CALICO

214 Centennial Hall, Southwest Texas State University

601 University Drive, San Marcos, TX 78666 USA

Phone: (512) 245-1417. Fax: (512) 245-9089

E-mail: info@calico.org

SUBSCRIPTION INFORMATION AND CALL FOR SUBMISSIONS

"Teaching English with Technology" (ISSN 1642-1027) is a quarterly electronic journal published by IATEFL Poland Computer Special Interest Group. The journal deals mainly with issues of using computers, the Internet, computer software in teaching and learning languages.

The editorial board of "Teaching English with Technology":

- Jarek Krajka (Maria Curie-Sklodowska University, Lublin, Poland) Editor-in-Chief (Articles, Lesson Plans, Software, On the Web)
- Jozsef Horvath (University of Pecs, Pecs, Hungary) Editor (Articles, Book Reviews)
- Maria Jose Luzon de Marco (University of Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain) Editor (The Internet and ESP)
- Guo Shesen (Luoyang University, Henan, P.R China) Editor (A Word from a Techie)

To subscribe to "Teaching English with Technology," write to: Jarek Krajka, Editor, at jkrajka@batory.plo.lublin.pl. In the Subject line, write: Subscription Request. You can also get the journal from the IATEFL Computer SIG website at this URL: http://www.iatefl.org.pl/call/callnl.htm, where the past issues can also be accessed, downloadable as zipped .html or .pdf file.

The next issue of "Teaching English with Technology" will be published in January 2003. Submission deadline for the next issue is December 1, 2002.

We invite submissions covering the following categories:

- Article: articles describing classroom practice or discussions of work in progress, being of immediate relevance to teachers, or articles presenting case studies or work in progress;
- The Internet and ESP: practical discussions of Web-based activities/classroom ideas for the ESP environment;
- Lesson plan: plans of lessons done in the Internet or using computers, set in the reality of the education system, detailing the procedure, technical requirements, skills needed by students and teacher, together with URLs used in the lesson and any worksheets/checklists students are asked to complete;
- On the Web: discussions of websites having potential for organising Internet lessons around them or relevant in some way to the field of English language teaching and learning;
- Software: descriptions, evaluations and recommendations of widely available language learning software;

- A Word from a Techie: discussions of applications of computer programmes to teaching English, outlining new possibilities given by software to the process of learning and teaching, explanations of technological issues;
- Reports from Past Events: brief accounts of conferences, methodological workshops, commercial presentations, courses that relate to the field of using computer technology in teaching English;
- Announcements of Future Events: as above, together with contact addresses.

We invite also works published elsewhere, but please give precise reference.

Please forward the following details with each submission:

- author(s) full name(s) including title(s);
- job title(s);
- affiliation(s);
- full contact details of all authors including email address, postal address, telephone and fax numbers.

Submissions should be sent by email as attachments to the Editor, Jarek Krajka, at jkrajka@batory.plo.lublin.pl, with the subject being "Journal Submission." Please specify in the letter what word-processing programme you are using, and send .rtf version as well. All submissions undergo the process of blind peer review and are returned to authors with suggestions for changes/corrections.

All materials in this publication are copyright (c) 2002 by their respective authors. Please cite "Teaching English with Technology" in an appropriate manner.

PDF conversion courtesy to The Schiffman Institute Ltd., www.schiffman-institute.com